

Digital inequalities in time of pandemic: COVID-19 exposure risk profiles and new forms of vulnerability by Laura Robinson, Jeremy Schulz, Aneka Khilnani, Hiroshi Ono, Shelia R. Cotten, Noah McClain, Lloyd Levine, Wenhong Chen, Gejun Huang, Antonio A. Casilli, Paola Tubaro, Matías Dodel, Anabel Quan-Haase, Maria Laura Ruiu, Massimo Ragnedda, Deb Aikat, and Natalia Tolentino

# Abstract

In this article, we argue that new kinds of risk are emerging with the COVID-19 virus, and that these risks are unequally distributed. As we expose to view, digital inequalities and social inequalities are rendering certain subgroups significantly more vulnerable to exposure to COVID-19. Vulnerable populations bearing disproportionate risks include the social isolated, older adults, penal system subjects, digitally disadvantaged students, gig workers, and last-mile workers. Therefore, we map out the intersection between COVID-19 risk factors and digital inequalities on each of these populations in order to examine how the digitally resourced have additional tools to mitigate some of the risks associated with the pandemic. We shed light on how the ongoing pandemic is deepening key axes of social differentiation, which were previously occluded from view. These newly manifested forms of social differentiation can be conceived along several related dimensions. At their most general and abstract, these risks have to do with the capacity individuals have to control the risk of pathogen exposure. In order to fully manage exposure risk, individuals must control their physical environment to the greatest extent possible in order to prevent contact with potentially compromised physical spaces. In addition, they must control their social interactional environment to the greatest extent possible in order to minimize their contacts with potentially infected individuals. All else equal, those individuals who exercise more control over their exposure risk — on the basis of their control over their physical and social interactional environments — stand a better chance of staying healthy than those individuals who cannot manage exposure risk. Individuals therefore vary in terms of what we call their COVID-19 exposure risk profile (CERPs). CERPs hinge on preexisting forms of social differentiation such as socioeconomic status, as individuals with more economic resources at their disposal can better insulate themselves from exposure risk. Alongside socioeconomic status, one of the key forms of social differentiation connected with CERPs is digital (dis)advantage. Ceteris paribus, individuals who can more effectively digitize key parts of their lives enjoy better CERPs than individuals who cannot digitize these life realms. Therefore we believe that digital inequalities are directly and increasingly related to both life-or-death exposure to COVID-19, as well as excess deaths attributable to the larger conditions generated by the pandemic.

# **Contents**

Overview of COVID-19 exposure risk profiles (CERPs)

Digital inequalities meets COVID-19: Taxonomies of vulnerability

COVID-19 exposure risk profiles and new forms of vulnerability

COVID-19: Social isolation

COVID-19: Older adults

**COVID-19: Incarceration** 

**COVID-19: Education** 

COVID-19: Work and telework

COVID-19: Gig, platform-, micro-, and last-mile workers

Implications of unequal risks and costs of CERPs: Taxonomies of vulnerability

Synthesis: COVID-19, digital inequalities, and future directions

# Overview of COVID-19 exposure risk profiles (CERPs)

In this article, we reveal novel and significant connections between exposure to COVID-19 and digital inequalities [1]. We pay particular attention to the following vulnerable populations: the socially isolated, older adults, penal system subjects, digitally disadvantaged students, gig workers, and last-mile workers. We lay out the accelerating impact of digital inequalities on each of these populations in terms of what we call *COVID-19 exposure risk profiles (CERPs)*. All else equal, individuals who can more effectively digitize key parts of their lives enjoy better CERPs than individuals who cannot digitize these life realms.

As we reveal, digital inequalities and social inequalities are rendering certain subgroups significantly more vulnerable to exposure to COVID-19. Globally, it is already clear that low-socioeconomic status (SES) populations are becoming infected and dying at much higher rates than their privileged counterparts. Due to longstanding social inequalities, their risks are higher, and their communities are suffering disproportionate losses in terms of infection, death, and economic devastation due to the pandemic. Low-SES groups are also much more likely to labor in high-contact, public-facing jobs such as supermarkets; provide essential transportation services; and do essential work in congregate workplaces such as food-processing facilities.

In addition to these social inequalities, in this paper we explore how digital inequalities may render certain groups significantly more vulnerable to exposure to COVID-19. Specifically, the digitally disadvantaged are deprived of opportunities to minimize risk of exposure to COVID-19. They are less likely to have the economic means to use digital services in the domain of consumption and are more likely to engage in face-to-face interaction to meet the needs of their families and communities. As we show, these digital inequalities contribute to shaping the *COVID-19 exposure risk profiles (CERPs)* for each group in our study.

Digital inequalities merit scrutiny as direct and indirect determinants of COVID-19 exposure risk, as well as excess deaths attributable to the larger conditions generated by the pandemic. Therefore, digital inequalities contribute to shaping the risk profiles for each group in our study, risks potentially related to infection from COVID-19. By illuminating these connections, we examine digital inequalities in the first global pandemic in the digital era and argue that CERPs are the newest frontier in digital and risk studies with interest for many disciplines.

# Digital inequalities meets COVID-19: Taxonomies of vulnerability

The COVID-19 pandemic is radically altering the "landscape of risk" (Zinn and MacDonald, 2018) for individuals around the world. However, it has not done so in equal measure. There is systematic variation in infection exposure risks (Lioy and Weisel, 2014) due to individuals' social locations, occupations, and consumption practices, all domains with implications for digital inequalities. Thus, in this article, we argue that the risks of exposure to COVID-19 also reflect individuals' access and usage of digital resources for purposes such as work, consumption, and social communication. Indeed, the importance of digital inequalities as key axes of social differentiation is more visible than ever, due to the COVID-19 crisis.

In the new landscape of risk brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic, individuals are constantly put at risk and called to make consequential decisions about managing risk within the existing parameters of their everyday lives (Beck, 1992; Giddens, 1990). Like other forms of risk management, those with resources generally have more autonomy in managing risk. In the case of COVID-19, exposure risk management must be carried out at home, work, school, and public places. Those individuals in a position to avoid contact with potentially contagious people and contaminated physical environments are better able to minimize exposure risk to themselves and others within their immediate social circles.

More specifically, individuals who have more autonomy over their homes, work and workplaces, modes of consumption, and modes of social communication can be characterized as having better COVID-19 *exposure risk profiles (CERPs)* than those who have less control over their everyday life realms. CERPs vary according to work engagements, home environments, manner and frequency of consumption, and modes of social interaction — all of which may vary across the life course and socioeconomic status. For this reason, those with more resources at their disposal can better insulate themselves from exposure risk than their counterparts with fewer such resources.

The COVID-19 pandemic is truly the first large-scale global pandemic which is taking place during the Internet age. During this global health crisis, individuals have for the first time the capacity to minimize their exposure risk by engaging in digitized interaction with others and avoiding shared physical "contact zones" (Askins and Pain, 2011). Thus, in order to understand individuals' exposure to infection risk, digital resources have to be taken into account alongside the non-digital elements of individuals' exposure risk profiles such as their living arrangements, their manner and type of work, and their consumption practices. People employed in different kinds of jobs and who engage in different kinds of consumption practices vary in their risk of exposure, in part because channels for work, consumption, and social communication may be more or less digitized.

# COVID-19 exposure risk profiles and new forms of vulnerability

Within this context, this study fills an important gap in our understanding of risk management as related to digital inequalities. We break new ground by making explicit linkages between the role of digital resources and risk management regarding contracting the COVID-19 virus. We argue that it is critical to understand engagement with digital resources as a shield against potential exposure. Digital resources allow individuals to shelter in place to avoid potentially risky physical environments and obviate face-to-face interaction thanks to digital communication media, digitally enabled delivery services, and telework.

As may be seen below in Figure 1, ceteris paribus, individuals who can more effectively digitize work, consumption, and social communication have additional tools to minimize their exposure risk. These digital tools allow individuals to mitigate their exposure risk profiles, as compared with those individuals who are constrained to analog modes of work, consumption, and social communication. For this reason, in order to fully grasp the sources of individuals' CERPs, we need to scrutinize digital inequalities, which can impact many consequential life realms (Robinson, et al., 2020a, 2020b, 2020c). We do so here in terms of a taxonomy of heterogeneous groups including the socially isolated, older adults, the incarcerated, students, teleworkers, gig workers, and last-mile workers. With the aid of stylized individuals, we typologize individual members of these groups, depending on their non-digital exposure risk profiles as well as their modes of engagement with work, consumption, and social communication. While some of the individuals tend towards less digitized (more "analog") modes of engagement with these realms, others tend towards more digitized modes of engagement.

# EXPOSED & UNCONNECTED

EXPOSED

COVID-19 EXPOSURE RISK

#### **ESSENTIAL WORKER MARK**

Lives in multigenerational home in apartment building

#### Work

Line worker in congregate workplace (food processing etc.)

#### Consumption

F2F: Shops brick-and-mortar
Analog services: phone and mail-order

≠ Digital

#### Communication

F2F
Analog communication and media

≠ Digital

# **EXPOSED & CONNECTED**

#### ER DOCTOR MARIA

Lives in brownstone w/ partner who is ER nurse on pandemic frontline

#### Work

Emergency room physician on pandemic frontline

#### Consumption

Avoids F2F

Digital: Telemedicine, shopping, and digital delivery services

#### Communication

F2F Analog communication and media Multi-modal digital

# SHELTERED & UNCONNECTED

#### **RURAL FARMER ELIJAH**

Member of intentional community in remote rural area

#### Work

Runs farm with household as part of self-sufficient community

#### Consumption

F2F: Shops brick-and-mortar Analog services: phone and mail-order ≠ Digital

## Communication

F2F Analog communication and media

≠ Digital

# SHELTERED & CONNECTED

#### PROGRAMMER PAT

Lives with spouse who is teleworker in detached house in suburbs

## Work

Software developer teleworking from home

# Consumption

Avoids F2F

Digital: Telemedicine, shopping, and digital delivery services

#### Communication

F2F with household Analog communication and media Multi-modal digital

UNCONNECTED DIGITAL RESOURCES CONNECTED

# Figure 1 COVID-19 Exposure Risk Profiles (CERPs)

Each of the ideal types in <u>Figure 1</u> represents individuals who share a similar exposure risk profile. Figure 1 synthesizes the four CERPs across work, familial situation, consumption, and communications *vis-à-vis* digital inequalities and SES. For example, *Programmer Pat* exemplifies the *sheltered and connected* CERP. This

profile is the CERP with the lowest exposure risk thanks to teleworking at home with a spouse, living in a detached home in the suburbs, and using digital resources to meet all consumption and interactional needs. At the onset of the stay-at-home orders, Pat and her family were able to shelter in place and have many work and consumption needs met via digital sources. Even as lockdowns lift, they have high relative autonomy over their exposure risk thanks to digital and socio-economic resources that allow for digital delivery services to bring groceries and necessitates to their home.

By contrast, in Figure 1, Mark represents the exposed and unconnected CERP. As an essential worker in a congregate workplace, Mark is emblematic of those who risk exposure on all fronts. Mark has the highest risk exposure profile as he has no autonomy over his living and work environments. Further, Mark lacks digital resources for either consumption or interaction. Both Mark's job as an essential worker in a meat processing facility and his home in a multi-generational apartment building literally put him into the "red" or "hot" "contact zone" in terms of potential exposure to COVID-19. His risk exposure is further magnified by his lack of digital resources that necessitates contact in public spaces as he does all of his shopping in brick-and-mortar supermarkets and stores. During and after lockdowns, Mark's exposure risk for himself and his family members is magnified on all life fronts. Those who are exposed and unconnected are most likely to come from low-socioeconomic status groups already at higher risk.

Less exposed to risk in Figure 1 are those belonging to the *sheltered and unconnected* CERP represented by *Elijah*, a rural farmer. Elijah's family farm is part of an intentional community (such as the Amish or Mennonites). Elijahs risk exposure profile is lower mainly due to the collective capacity of his intentional community to self-isolate. While not all intentional communities live in rural areas, Elijah's farm is in a remote rural locale with limited contact with the outside world. Within the community, Elijah and his family are at higher risk of exposure as they rely on face-to-face interaction in their workplaces and to meet their consumption and interactional needs as they do not use any digital resources. Therefore, their collective exposure risk is entirely dependent on their particular community's ability to collectively isolate from the wider world, something not possible for all intentional communities.

Nonetheless, digital resources alone are insufficient to lower individuals' exposure risk profiles as we see in Figure 1 with *Dr. Maria* who represents the *exposed and connected* CERP. Despite being connected, she has a high exposure risk due to her work as an emergency room physician daily treating patients in the New York metropolitan area. Maria lives with her partner, an ER nurse, in a brownstone and uses digital resources for all consumption and interactional needs outside of the workplace. Therefore, Maria's exposure profile is higher due to her work on the frontline of the COVID-19 pandemic despite high socio-economic status and ample access to digital resources. As we will see, Maria's situation is an important one in that digital resources mitigate the risk from exposure from consumption and social interaction. Nonetheless, even high SES and digital resources are insufficient to protect those working on the frontlines of the pandemic whose work puts them at high risk of exposure to COVID-19.

To flesh out these connections, we examine CERPs among key vulnerable populations: the socially isolated, older adults, the incarcerated, digitally disadvantaged students, and last-mile workers. We conclude the article with considerations of the short-term and long-term consequences of digital inequalities and CERPs for each class of individuals. We conclude the article with an analysis of the costs paid by each group to manage risk for themselves, as well as the costs paid to mitigate risk for others. This is particularly important for those making the greatest sacrifices in the COVID-19 pandemic: frontline workers including those in essential services.

Here we make an important point about unequal risks and costs extorted by the COVID-19 with potentially lethal consequences for those serving in public-facing jobs. In addition to the medical personnel,

transportation, and utilities workers who continue to serve to protect others, we believe that recognition is due to the last-mile and location-based gig workers in public-facing jobs who ensure the food chain and delivery of vital goods upon which so much digital consumption relies. Therefore, while recognizing the risk mitigation offered by digital resources for some, we also argue that some of these benefits are only possible due to the costs paid by others. The digital delivery chain is only possible thanks to last-mile workers and location-based gig workers who put themselves at risk so that others may shelter in place. Significantly, location-based gig and last-mile workers come disproportionately from low SES backgrounds — the very populations that are already suffering in greater numbers from the ravages of the pandemic — and yet their service simultaneously augments their risk while allowing for the reduction of risk to others. It is, therefore, vital to make a thorough account of costs, who is paying them, and who is benefitting from them to fully understand the implications of CERPs.

# **COVID-19: Social isolation**

We begin our examination of digital inequalities and exposure risk profiles with social isolation. In response to the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic, countries around the world reacted by imposing strict measures of social distancing, effectively putting more than half of the world population into a prolonged period of social isolation. At the time of writing in June 2020, the world continues to await a vaccine and effective treatment. As infection and death rates continue to climb in some regions and countries, they are plateauing and stabilizing in others. As some areas are reopening, the world is collectively holding its breath to see if a second wave will appear and wreak additional devastation. Globally, we are all asking: What are the social and public health consequences of this large-scale social distancing? Does differential access to digital technologies affect the outcomes?

Insights into some of these questions may be found in Figure 2 below (CERP: The socially isolated and older adults). Those without digital resources will not reap communication and interactional benefits made possible by ICTs (information and communication technologies) and thereby may suffer from diminished well-being. When evaluating risk, individuals without digital resources may be forced to make difficult choices between self-isolating and risking exposure to the virus to seek social interaction with others. For example, *Helmut* belongs to the *sheltered and unconnected* CERP. Living alone and lacking digital resources, Helmut faces difficult tradeoffs between social interaction and risk mitigation. By contrast, individuals from the *sheltered and connected* CERP, like *Carlos*, are better able to meet social, communication, and consumption needs thanks to digital media. These idealized types offer insight into the plight of the socially isolated who are confronted by these choices (often in much more subtle ways) to manage their risk exposure to COVID-19.

Particularly for the socially isolated, COVID-19 threatens the very social cohesion and social integration that offer protection and bind society together (Durkheim, 1951). COVID-19 risk management engages much larger questions *vis-à-vis* social isolation. The forces at play have long been of interest to social scientists who note how social disintegration can have the opposite effect, raising the likelihood of loneliness and the risk of social isolation. For example, using religious involvement as a form of social integration, Idler and Kasl (1992) document how religious group membership can have protective and life-preserving effects for health and well-being, especially among the elderly population. Klinenberg's (2002) work on the 1995 Chicago heatwave documents how the lack of social capital in the some neighborhoods contributed to one of the worst urban catastrophes in U.S. history which claimed more than seven hundred lives, offering important insight to the dynamics of risk exposure that may be similar to the suffering generated by COVID-19.

Offering direct evidence to the harmful effects of social disintegration and isolation, Klinenberg (2002) explains that hundreds of elderly residents died alone in their homes because they had no support networks or social contacts, and thus no one was checking in on their wellbeing. The heatwave study highlights how natural disasters can have differential impacts on particular demographic groups due in part to social isolation and lack of social support. The adverse effects of social isolation have been documented in the psychology literature as well. For example, Holt-Lunstad, et al. (2015) find a strong relationship between social isolation and the risk of early mortality. Their study distinguishes objective isolation (e.g., living alone) and subjective isolation (e.g. feelings of isolation and loneliness), and establishes that both types are associated with a higher risk of mortality.

To the extent that digital connections can enhance social connections, access to and use of digital technologies may provide some social support when people are forced into social distancing during the pandemic. Let us define digital connections as having adequate access to digital technologies and being connected through the Internet and social media platforms and social connections as being connected through in-person, face-to-face interactions. To the extent that people are forced to be socially (or physically) isolated, everyone will suffer socially when social distancing is imposed. But the effect will be manifested differently across social and demographic groups when we consider the role of digital technology in social interactions.

The <u>table</u> below maps digital versus social connections. When social distancing is imposed, people in Groups A and B (with strong digital connections) can choose to switch from being socially connected to digitally connected, while people in Groups C and D do not, thereby exposing the latter group to greater risk of social isolation. People that are both digitally and socially disconnected (Group D) may thus be most vulnerable under conditions of forced social distancing. In the realm of digital inequalities, previous studies have identified particular demographic and socio-economics groups that are less digitally connected along such lines as gender, race, age, education, and income (for recent review, see Robinson, *et al.*, 2020b). The literature on social isolation has also identified characteristics of people who are at higher risk of social isolation (*e.g.*, McPherson, *et al.*, 2006; Miyawaki, 2015). The intersection of these two streams of literature points definitively to the elderly population, and especially older immigrants.

Table 1: Digital connections and social connections					
Digital connections	Strong	В	А		
Digital connections	Weak	D	С		
		Weak	Strong		
		Social connections			

In the U.S. and Latin America, information and communication technology (ICT) ownership and use have been confirmed to be significantly lower among immigrants and populations who live in non-English speaking households (Galperin, 2017; Ono and Zavodny, 2008). The lack of access and use of ICTs among the elderly population is a consistent finding in the digital inequalities literature, although studies have also established that there is great disparity in access and use even within the elderly (Hargittai, et al., 2019). In their study of social isolation in the U.S., McPherson, et al. (2006) show that older adults are more likely to have smaller social networks. Social isolation is significantly associated with negative health outcomes among the elderly, and especially among the minority and immigrant populations (Miyawaki, 2015). It should be emphasized that social isolation is not only limited to the elderly population. For example, hikikomori are young adults and teens who withdraw from society to seek social isolation. What distinguishes hikikomori from the elderly population is that many hikikomori are actually digitally connected (through video games, social media, etc.)

and are positioned in Group B, while the elderly are not. The elderly population is already categorized in the high-risk mortality group of COVID-19 by virtue of their weakened immune system and pre-existing conditions. The combination of social and digital isolation may further increase the mortality risk of the elderly population, as well as other negative outcomes such as anxiety and depression.

Diffusion of ICTs in our lives has raised concerns that technological advances may undermine existing social relationships. However, under the unprecedented circumstances of the COVID-19 pandemic and its prolonged period of forced social distancing, digital connections may provide some social support and lower the risk of social isolation for those populations that can afford them. Indeed, use of ICTs has been shown to be effective in promoting social connectedness especially among older adults and for students (Robinson, 2018). With the prospect of social distancing continuing at least until 2022 (Kissler, *et al.*, 2020), expanding the use of ICTs may be one way to overcome social isolation and loneliness among the high-risk populations who are digitally advantaged. However, at the same time, those without digital resources will not reap these benefits, may suffer from diminished well-being, and be forced to make difficult choices between self-isolating and risking exposure to the virus to seek social interaction with others.

## **EXPOSED & UNCONNECTED**

#### FORMER HOMEMAKER CATHERINE

Lives in retirement home (congregate housing)

#### Work

Former Homemaker

#### Consumption

Relies on total institution Analog services ≠ Digital

# Communication

F2F
Analog communication and media

≠ Digital

# **EXPOSED & CONNECTED**

#### **ENGINEER AMIDA**

Healthy older adult living alone and still in workforce

#### Work

Plant utilities engineer providing essential utility services

#### Consumption

Avoids F2F

Digital: Telemedicine, shopping, and digital delivery services

#### Communication

F2F

Analog communication and media Multi-modal digital

# SHELTERED & UNCONNECTED

## FORMER MECHANIC HELMUT

Healthy older adult living alone

#### Work

Retired Mechanic

#### Consumption

F2F: Shops brick-and-mortar during senior hours Analog services ≠ Digital

# Communication

F2F Analog communication and media

≠ Digital

COVID-19 EXPOSURE RISK

# SHELTERED & CONNECTED

#### FORMER PRINCIPAL CARLOS

Healthy older adult living with retired spouse

#### Work

Retired School Principal

# Consumption

Avoids F2F

Digital: Telemedicine, shopping, and digital delivery services

#### Communication

F2F with household Analog communication and media Multi-modal digital

UNCONNECTED DIGITAL RESOURCES CONNECTED

Figure 2 CERP: The Socially Isolated and Older Adults

# **COVID-19: Older adults**

As we see in Figure 2, in our taxonomy of older adults, we contrast individuals such as Carlos (sheltered and connected) and Helmut (sheltered and unconnected). Both are healthy older adults who have retired from their former jobs as a high school principal and mechanic. Like other older adults, Carlos and Helmut are more susceptible to infection simply on account of age. However, both have a relatively favorable exposure risk profile compared to Catherine (exposed and unconnected) or Amida (exposed and connected). Neither Carlos nor Helmut spends time in a shared office or workplace or lives with a spouse or family members who are likely to be transmission vectors themselves. However, only Carlos uses digital media to meet a variety of consumption and communication needs including zoom sessions with grandchildren, ordering groceries online, and receiving contactless deliveries.

Also in Figure 2, by contrast, Helmut lives alone and does not use digital technologies to communicate with members of his social circles. Equally important, Helmut's lack of digital resources means that he is forced to eschew Internet purchasing and e-commerce activities in order to procure consumer goods. Where social interaction is concerned, Helmut relies on the telephone rather than digital communication. As the months continue, Helmut increasingly feels isolated and alone as a member of the sheltered and unconnected CERP. Helmut no longer is able to attend religious services, the local library, or other community institutions that gave him much-needed social interaction pre-pandemic. Therefore, to satiate his hunger for food and longing for contact with the world, Helmut ventures out to his local grocery store with a mask and gloves during "senior hours." Despite these difficulties, Helmut is thankful he does not face the far greater risks confronting Catherine (exposed and unconnected CERP) who lives in a retirement home, relies on this total institution for all consumption, and whose communication is limited to analog services. Catherine's plight represents one of the many tragedies of the pandemic; like others in retirement homes, Catherine's CERP is high and relatively devoid of autonomy.

As these CERPs indicate, while all individuals may experience social isolation due to COVID-19 lockdowns, older adults are particularly susceptible because those aged 65 and older are more likely to suffer negative physical health consequences from COVID-19 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). As such, it is critical that they shelter in place and maintain physical distance from others during this pandemic. However, these behavioral changes, mandated to maintain physical health, are likely to impact older adults' connections to social ties and quality of life, in part due to their use or non-use of ICTs.

A significant segment of older adults already experience chronic loneliness; over 40 million older adults in the U.S. experience chronic loneliness; across Europe, the elderly suffer more social isolation than any other adults (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Administration for Community Living, 2018). Loneliness and social isolation are both associated with depression and mortality (Cacioppo, *et al.*, 2002; Cacioppo, *et al.*, 2010; Steptoe, *et al.*, 2013). A pandemic, such as COVID-19, and the ensuing social distancing mandates are exacerbating rates of loneliness and isolation, as well as resulting impacts on health and quality of life among older adults.

With the social distancing mandates in place in many areas of the world, this necessitates that contact among social ties be minimized. One way that many digitally resourced individuals overcome social distancing mandates is through the use of ICTs for maintaining contact with social ties (such as *Amida* and *Carlos* in <u>Figure 2</u>). Though older adults are increasingly crossing the digital divide, a significant portion of older adults do not use ICTs (such as *Helmut* and *Catherine* in <u>Figure 2</u>). And, as age increases, use rates decline; for example, 82 percent of 65–69 year old individuals in the U.S. report using the Internet

compared to only 44 percent of those aged 80 and older (Anderson and Perrin, 2017); similar patterns appear across Latin America (Galperin, 2017).

Extensive variation exists in how older adults use ICTs, with much of this variation resulting from the timing of technological developments, differences in ICT exposure and use across the life course, and whether older adults have support networks that can provide assistance with maintaining use over time (Cotten, 2020). For example, even if they use ICTs, older adults may not garner their full benefit. Older adults may use ICTs in more basic ways, such as to talk to others via phone or to use the calendar and clock functions, than younger age groups who tend to use a variety of applications, including social media. Many older adults prefer and are more amenable to having in-person (face-to-face) interaction and landline phone communication (though mobile phone communication is increasing) (Chan, 2015; Ling, 2008; Yuan, et al., 2016).

The COVID-19 pandemic highlights the importance of multi-modal communications for older adults both for consumption and to maintain contact with social ties. While analog technologies including landline phones can be important, tablet computers may be one of the easiest ICT options for older adults who are digital novices (Tsai, et al., 2017). Simple operating manuals, such as those developed by Oasis Institute (<a href="www.oasisnet.org">www.oasisnet.org</a>), can be helpful. However, social ties via phone and in person (when social distancing mandates are lifted) even more invaluable to enable older adults to develop digital literacies and skills with which to seek healthcare information and maintain contact with others (Cotten, 2020). Making technologies less expensive, easier to learn how to use, and easier to maintain use over time will enable older adults to cross the digital divide so that they can go online initially and are able to maintain use over time (Cotten, et al., 2016).

However, enhancing use of ICTs among older adults and enhancing their social contact and communication will require training and continued support. While it may be easy to give a device to an older adult, helping them learn how to effectively use it and how to troubleshoot problems as they arise will be key to helping them to connect online during the COVID-19 pandemic, be in touch with friends and family, and to remain online in the future. Training programs that are tailored to types of devices, user experience level, and cognitive ability may also be needed for some older adults to enable them to cross the digital divide and reap social connection and communication benefits of using ICTs (Berkowsky, *et al.*, 2013; Cotten, *et al.*, 2016; Winstead, *et al.*, 2013).

Finally, we note that many of the solutions here that rely on digital technologies do not prevent risk for older adults living with extended family members or in congregate housing. Related to this, for older adults in care communities, such as nursing homes, who may not have cognitive or physical capabilities to use technologies for social connection, having staff in these communities who can help older adults to communicate with social ties through video or audio applications is critical. This necessitates that communities such as nursing homes, assisted living facilities, and memory care units have (1) technologies, such as tablet computers, that are available to be used with residents across the communities; (2) Wi-Fi for connecting the devices to the Internet; and, (3) staff who are skilled in using these technologies and willing to use them to facilitate contact for residents even during times of social distancing (always carefully and routinely sterilizing any shared devices or surfaces that increase risk of exposure to COVID-19).

# **COVID-19: Incarceration**

The pandemic is a particularly acute emergency for prisoners around the globe. Prisons are overcrowded settings often already lacking in basic health services or robust governance. Worldwide, they are often riven with neglect — and in some cases abuse — of human rights (Darke and Kamran, 2016; Salla, et al., 2009). Internationally, multi-

morbidity is significantly more common among prisoners than the broader population, which increases the potential severity of any new health challenge (Kinner, et al., 2020; Morelle, et al., 2020). These conditions lethally combine in institutions. Pre-COVID-19, infectious disease was already a major cause of death in many prisons (for example, 17.5 percent in Chinese prisons as of 2018; see Yang and Thompson, 2020). Punitive considerations have long eclipsed the values of humanitarianism and rehabilitation, such as we have recently seen in El Salvador, where, even as COVID-19 spread, hundreds of prisoners putatively belonging to gangs were made to huddle chest-to-back on the ground as a form of punishment (*Economist*, 2020). The challenges of facing the pandemic in prisons are staggering, but we focus here on basic issues of human connection in U.S. penal institutions, where restrictions imposed in the name of security already sharply curtail communication beyond prison walls, yet where fresh provision for digital communication might deliver outsized benefits.

Many of the exposure risks in congregate settings like nursing homes are also present in penal systems around the globe as we see in <u>Figure 3</u>. Individuals like *Phil* with *exposed and unconnected* CERPs are at greatest risk, followed by *Jane* whose *exposed and connected* CERP makes her vulnerable. Only *Mackenzie* (*sheltered and unconnected*) and *Wilson* (*sheltered and connected*), who are not representative of the majority of penal system subjects, are able to shelter in place in their homes.

# **EXPOSED & UNCONNECTED**

#### PHIL

EXPOSED

COVID-19 EXPOSURE RISK

SHELTERED

Lives in prison in shared cell with other prisoners (congregate setting)

Work (suspended during COVID-19) Employed in prison library

# Consumption

Limited by total institution ≠ digital

#### Communication

F2F

Analog communication and media (suspended during COVID-19)

≠ Digital not permitted by prison

#### **EXPOSED & CONNECTED**

#### IANE

Lives in transitional living facility with other prisoners (congregate setting) and is an essential worker

#### Work

Shelf stocker for grocery store

# Consumption

Brick-and-mortar shopping for essentials Analog services permitted by facility Limited digital services permitted by facility

#### Communication

F2F

Analog communication and media Limited digital services permitted by facility

# SHELTERED & UNCONNECTED

# MACKENZIE

Awaiting trail and incarcerated w/home detention & electronic monitoring in detached house with spouse who is sheltering in place

#### Work

Unemployed

# Consumption

Analog services permitted by court ≠ Digital not permitted by court

# Communication

F2F with household

Analog communication and media permitted by court

≠ Digital not permitted by court

# SHELTERED & CONNECTED

#### WILSON

Incarcerated w/home detention & electronic monitoring in detached house with household who are sheltering in place

#### Work (pre incarceration)

Former Politician

# Consumption

 $Essential\ digital\ consumption\ permitted\ by\ court$   $telemedicine,\ groceries,\ and\ digital\ delivery\ services\ for\ Rx$ 

# Communication

F2F with household

Essential Analog communication and media permitted by court Essential digital communication permitted by court

UNCONNECTED DIGITAL RESOURCES CONNECTED

Even prior to the current crisis, precarious connections between prisoners and their families were made all the more tenuous by deep restrictions on prisoners' access to means of communication. Nearly globally, prisoners are denied substantive Internet access (Bagaric, et al., 2018; Reisdorf and Jewkes, 2016; Tynan, 2016). In the U.S., a smartphone within prison walls is treated as a major breach of security, and, in some jurisdictions, a social media post attributed to a prisoner can be cause for severest discipline (Shapiro, 2016). Some approximation of e-mail is possible through supervised terminals in some jurisdictions, though each message is tolled for length, with a base price usually greater than the hourly prison wage (Kruzman, 2018). Still, those messages are often much more affordable than the predatory cost of prison phone calls, generally borne by inmates' families (Wagner and Jones, 2019) already coping with the loss of an incarcerated family member's income and other forms of support (deVuono-powell, et al., 2015).

This global pandemic brings a crisis of mutual isolation between prisoners and their families. In the U.S., jail and prison administrators have overwhelmingly responded to COVID-19 with "lockdown" measures in which prisoners are confined to their cells more or less full-time in efforts to slow contagion in overcrowded facilities (Williams, *et al.*, 2020). The measures make in-person visits impossible, and may limit if not halt access to phone calls and risk leaving prisoners and loved ones to face the pandemic crisis in reciprocal isolation from a parent, child, sibling or romantic partner, bringing long-term consequences for their ties.

While the digitally enfranchised in the free world migrate their interactions to online platforms during the pandemic, the incarcerated have been migrated away from what little video-interaction opportunities they may have had. Closed-circuit video-based family visits, medical consultations and even official hearings were introduced more than two decades ago in "supermax" prisons as an efficient, punitive alternative to inperson contact (Haney, 2003). In more recent years, however, "video visitation" has been widely introduced by prison phone companies like Securus at shocking price points. Reportedly, the interfaces routinely freeze, disconnect, or fail entirely (Kozlowska, 2015). In a small number of examples, free video-visit programs have been introduced to enhance contact between incarcerated people and their families, especially when travel and personal schedules make in-person visitation difficult. A New York City program has, for several years, linked kiosks in local public libraries to terminals in city jails (City of New York, 2020). But the joint closure of the libraries and lockdown of the jails during the COVID-19 pandemic has suspended the program and most others like it, as well.

This deprivation can have significant effects. The ties prisoners struggle to maintain during the COVID-19 lockdown are also those which have been found as key to "successful" post-incarceration reentry — that is, to securing stable work and housing and avoiding re-incarceration (Cobbina, et al., 2012; Riggs, in press). Prison visits have been found to support the emotional health of prisoners and may decrease chances of recidivism (Cochran, et al., 2020). When someone is sentenced to prison, their close ties are sentenced also to the deprivation from their loved one and to years of navigating complex rules of contact, part of the "collateral consequences" of incarceration (Hagan and Dinovitzer, 1999; Comfort, 2002). Extending to prisoners and their families the same electronic tools — however flawed — of prosocial connection and intimacy now essential in the free world can ease some emotional burdens, and even may offer an evidence-based strategy to reduce recidivism and ease penal overcrowding in advance of the next crisis.

To its credit, at least one U.S. state prison system has been occasioned by the COVID-19 crisis to enhance digital connectivity between prisoners and their support networks by instituting free — albeit rationed to once-weekly — video visitation opportunities via Zoom (Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 2020). Expanding

inmate online communication elsewhere will require complex solutions that balance the need for social distancing and yet maintain prisoners' rights to communications, which have been curtailed in the name of security in response to COVID-19. As the pandemic continues, the intervention of engineers and technologists is vitally important to facilitating mediated communication in ways that ensure prisoners' rights, meet the concerns of penal authorities, and lower risk of exposure to the virus.

# **COVID-19: Education**

In many developed economies, computers and Internet access are increasingly implicated in academic achievement (Robinson, et al., 2018; Gulek and Demirtas, 2005; Jackson, et al., 2006) under the traditional, pre-pandemic schooling model. However, as lockdowns were put into place in the first half of 2020, many schools closed and attempted to continue education for students via distance learning. Under lockdowns, distance learning has varied widely even in economically developed countries like the U.S. For example, the California Department of Education's state-wide plan for distance learning defines distance learning broadly:

For the purpose of this guidance, "distance learning" means instruction in which the student and instructor are in different locations. This may include interacting through the use of computer and communications technology, as well as delivering instruction and check-in time with their teacher. Distance learning may include video or audio instruction in which the primary mode of communication between the student and instructor is online interaction, instructional television, video, telecourses, or other instruction that relies on computer or communications technology. It may also include the use of print materials incorporating assignments that are the subject of written or oral feedback (California Department of Education, 2020).

As this indicates, distance learning may vary in terms of quality, use of different instructional modes, and employ both analog and digital media via different delivery platforms.

One possible result of this variation is that distance learning (albeit necessary to mitigate risk of exposure to COVID-19) could intersect with digital inequalities and thereby exacerbate existing disparities in a stratified fashion. If this occurs, differentiation will likely correlate with traditional markers of disparity (Kim and Quinn, 2013) and educational stratification related to household media, digital media, and knowledgeable people as resources for academic achievement. With school and libraries closed to slow the pandemic, given this heterogeneity in learning opportunities, the shift to remote education in response to COVID-19 has the potential to exacerbate learning gaps. As we see in <a href="Figure 4">Figure 4</a> below, during lockdowns students like *Jasmine* with a *sheltered and connected* CERP may benefit from the richest mix of analog and digital resources at home. By contrast, students with an *exposed and unconnected* CERP like *Tanner* are at greatest risk of being compromised academically due to inadequate distance learning and falling behind students like *Jasmine*.

# EXPOSED

COVID-19 EXPOSURE RISK

SHELTERED

# **EXPOSED & UNCONNECTED**

#### PRIMARY STUDENT TANNER

Lives with multi-generational family in apartment with older siblings who are essential workers in sanitation

#### **Distance Learning Resources**

Analog: educational television and media Print materials provided by school: take-home packets and books

≠ Digital devices or services for learning

#### Communication

Analog services Analog communication and media ≠ Digital devices or services at home

#### **EXPOSED & CONNECTED**

#### SECONDARY STUDENT BORIS

Lives with parents in house in upscale urban townhouse with mother is an ER surgeon working on frontline of pandemic

#### Distance Learning Resources

Analog: educational television and media Print materials provided by school: take-home packets and books

Digital: Khan academy, Zoom classes, FaceTime with teacher, etc.

#### Communication

F2F with household Analog communication and media Multi-modal digital

# SHELTERED & UNCONNECTED

#### SECONDARY STUDENT ALEXIS

Lives with parents on farm in intentional community banning external travel

#### **Distance Learning Resources**

Analog: educational television and media Print materials provided by school: take-home packets and books

≠ Digital devices or services for learning

## Communication

F2F

Analog communication and media ≠ Digital devices or services at home

# SHELTERED & CONNECTED

#### PRIMARY STUDENT JASMINE

Lives with teleworking parents in news media in house in the suburbs

# **Distance Learning Resources**

Analog: educational television and media Print materials provided by school: take-home packets and books

Digital: Khan academy, Zoom classes, FaceTime with teacher, etc.

# Communication

F2F with household Analog communication and media Multi-modal digital

UNCONNECTED DIGITAL RESOURCES CONNECTED

Figure 4 CERP: Students

Even pre-pandemic, students whose households provide plentiful multimedia materials and people as educational resources (Robinson and Schulz, 2013) are more likely to have positive outcomes academically. Therefore, we may posit that students with insufficient resources for distance learning are more likely to suffer learning gaps — particularly if remote instruction is unequal to that of their better-resourced peers. Where remote instruction necessitated by COVID-19 is concerned, students with greater and more varied resources are likely to have multiple advantages over those whose resources are limited. Those households with meaningful Internet access (Levine, 2018) are likely to be best able to minimize exposure to COVID-19 by moving students to fully remote instruction. By contrast, under fully remote instruction, disadvantaged students may not enjoy instructional support, lessons and assignments, and educational materials comparable to that of their more advantaged peers (Kuhfeld and Tarasawa, 2020).

Even with their best efforts to learn, students with insufficient access to effective remote instruction channels may be at risk of comparative disadvantage and associated learning gaps both short- and long-term. In the U.S., some students experience a "summer slide" necessitating review (Thum and Hauser, 2015). If this holds true for the lockdowns, inadequate remote instruction in response to COVID-19 school closures could generate similar or even greater "slides" if left unaddressed. Should this occur, remote learning disparities

stemming from COVID-19 may impact long-term educational outcomes (Siraj-Blatchford, 2004). In this way, existing digital disparities and COVID-19 lockdowns may have potentially deleterious effects for low-SES students in terms of educational trajectories and life opportunities if not effectively remediated.

# **COVID-19: Work and telework**

Since its advent in the 1970s, telework and remote work arrangements have become increasingly feasible thanks to advances in ICTs. By some measures, as of 2018 almost a quarter of American workers worked remotely on any given workday (Frazis, 2020). However, pre-pandemic, full-time telework was rare (Galperin, 2017). However, even after the proliferation of these technologies, relatively few American workers could be characterized as full-time remote workers. Prior to the COVID-19 crisis, only two to three percent of the American workforce actually worked full-time from a remote location. By some estimates, only about one-third of existing jobs in developed economies are "conducive" to telework (Dingel and Neiman, 2020). Other studies report that this percentage drops to less than 25 percent of jobs in Latin America and between 25 percent and 30 percent globally in countries including Argentina and France (Albrieu, 2020; Global Workplace Analytics, 2020; Odoxa, 2020).

However, few would argue that, as of the onset of the global COVID-19 crisis, the landscape of remote work has changed radically and abruptly. In the first few months of the pandemic, as many as half of workers in the U.S. were expected to shift at least some of their duties to telework at home (Guyot and Sawhill, 2020). On the employee side, recent surveys suggest that the majority of American workers currently working remotely under lockdowns would prefer to continue working from home "as much as possible" in the future (Harter, 2020). Silicon Valley is riding this wave. Several months into the pandemic, organizations across the economy have expanded their remote work options in numerous ways for many different classes of employees. At the extreme, many firms are reconsidering the merits of full-time remote work. In a mid-May survey of San Francisco Bay area businesses, for example, some 18 percent of the surveyed businesses predicted that they would likely transition to "full remote work" after the pandemic subsided (Bay Area Council, 2020). Leading the way towards home-based, long-term, full-time remote work are tech firms such as Twitter, which announced that it would become an all-remote workplace in the post-pandemic period even after all of the restrictions have been lifted.

This being said, the share of jobs in any location that can be performed at home varies dramatically by city, region, to country. For example in the U.S., from 28 percent to 51 percent of jobs may be done in different metropolitan regions (Dingel and Neiman, 2020). Even in San Jose, the epicenter of Silicon Valley, only just over half of jobs are telework-friendly. There is a clear correlation between telework and occupational status and income levels both in the U.S. and globally:

... a clear positive relationship between income levels and the shares of jobs that can be done from home. While fewer than 25 percent of jobs in Mexico and Turkey could be performed at home, this share exceeds 40 percent in Sweden and the United Kingdom ... the nature of an occupation likely varies across economies with different income levels ... developing economies and emerging markets may face an even greater challenge in continuing to work during periods of stringent social distancing. (Dingel and Neiman, 2020)

These relationships confirm connections between telework, socio-economic disadvantage, and potential risk exposure to COVID-19 for those in the labor force overall (Reeves and Rothwell, 2020).

In addition to tracking with larger disadvantage and inequalities in terms of race and class, teleworking is intimately related to digital inequalities in that many workers are providing their own digital tools to work at home. Often, telework depends on the ability to afford multiple high-quality digital devices and access to broadband Internet, both of which are stratified by SES status economic class even in developed economies (Global Workplace Analytics, 2020). These connections between digital inequalities and telework are clear in Figure 5 below. *Timothy* exemplifies the *exposed and unconnected* CERP. His service as an essential worker in a grocery store puts him in a public-facing job with higher risk. His own consumption and communication needs rely on in-person interactions and analog technologies, the former of which increases his risk of exposure. In direct contrast, *Chet* represents the *sheltered and connected* CERP that is faring best in response to COVID-19. He and his nuclear family work and study from their home in the suburbs; it was relatively seamless to transfer his work as an accountant from his workplace office to his home office. Like other *sheltered and connected* CERPs, his entire family employs digital technologies for consumption and communication, thus avoiding potential risk of exposure through face-to-face interaction.

#### EXPOSED & UNCONNECTED EXPOSED **EXPOSED & CONNECTED** TAXI DRIVER TIMOTHY JORDAN Lives in multi-generational family home Airbnb host rents out spare bedroom in two-bedroom apartment Work Grocery Bagger Gig-worker: Lyft driver Last-mile worker: Instacart shopper Consumption F2F: shops brick-and-mortar Consumption Analog services Avoids F2F ≠ Digital Digital: Telemedicine, shopping, and digital delivery services COVID-19 EXPOSURE RISK Communication Communication F2F Analog communication and media Analog communication and media ≠ Digital Multi-modal digital SHELTERED & UNCONNECTED SHELTERED & CONNECTED FORESTER KIRIMA ACCOUNTANT CHET Lives in Remote Community in Alaska Banning External Travel Healthy adult living with nuclear family in suburbs Work Work Works Forestry Service Accountant teleworking from home Consumption Consumption F2F: shops brick-and-mortar Avoids F2F Analog services Digital: Telemedicine, shopping, and digital delivery services ≠ Digital due to infrastructure deficits Communication Communication SHELTERED F2F with household F2F Analog communication and media Analog communication and media Multi-modal digital ≠ Digital due to infrastructure deficits

UNCONNECTED DIGITAL RESOURCES CONNECTED

Figure 5 CERP: Teleworkers and Gig Workers

# COVID-19: Gig, platform-, micro-, and last-mile workers

Although the COVD-19 pandemic has been regarded as the triumph of platform-assisted "smart work," as we see in Figure 5, this does not illustrate how some gig and last-mile workers are subject to much higher levels of risk exposure to COVID-19. In Figure 5, *Jordan* is the ideal type representing platform, gig, and last-mile workers. *Jordan's* work as a Lyft driver, as well as his work as an Instacart shopper, exemplify the public-facing essential work being performed by gig and last-mile workers. In addition, pre-pandemic *Jordan* was a host for Airbnb. Although *Jordan's* work is heavily dependent on excellent digital skills and high-quality resources, as a worker these only allow him to serve to mitigate others' risk. While he also uses digital resources to meet his own consumption and communication needs, on all other fronts his risk to exposure is extraordinarily high. Jordan does his best to provide his own PPE (personal protective equipment) but like many others has run into shortages and is using stopgap measures including re-using his mask.

Digital labor platforms such as Uber, Deliveroo, Upwork, and Amazon Mechanical Turk provide earning opportunities by outsourcing on-demand gigs and tasks. There is consensus that they reinforce existing inequalities and generate new vulnerabilities by generalizing low-paid and contingent work (Robinson, et al., 2020c). As "gigs" are mainly location-based and "tasks" can be performed online, we could expect that the global COVID-19 crisis would disrupt the former, while boosting the latter. But especially in countries where stay-at-home measures have been implemented, the differential impact of the global health crisis follows more complex dividing lines. As we saw in the previous section, overall, the uneven distribution of remote and proximity work opportunities and risks follows lines of social privilege: middle and upper-classes can mostly work safely at home, while working class and precarious "last-mile workers" are forced into out-of-home occupations, both essential and non-essential.

A class gradient seems to be at play, as platform-assisted telework is common among higher-income brackets (DeSilver, 2020; Reeves and Rothwell, 2020), while people on lower rungs of the income ladder are more likely to hold jobs that involve physical proximity, which are deemed essential and cannot be moved online or interrupted. These include contingent workers in delivery, logistics, and other jobs at the end of the supply chain — often with no safety net and/or sick leave in regions where they are classified as contract workers (currently being contested in California). With healthcare professionals and police, they are those who face the greatest health risks (Gamio, 2020). The first line of fracture between those who can and those who cannot work from home reveals another, even more troubling divide among the latter, distinguishing formally employed out-of-home laborers and platform-based last-mile workers.

The COVID-19 pandemic gives unprecedented visibility to last-mile workers but without increased social security. Especially delivery and urban transportation platforms are an important part of this digital economy, which has remained operational during lockdown and has even seen a rise in activity — with a worldwide surge in worker signups, and an increase in service demand (Ghosh, 2020). Platforms have even started offering "contactless delivery" services that require riders not to hand-deliver meals, thereby reducing infection risks for customers (Yu, 2020). However, the work of riders is not contactless, as they must still interact with restaurant staff, circulate in public spaces, and touch potentially contaminated surfaces. Sometimes after court decisions, on-demand platforms have recognized the health risks that workers are exposed to and thus started providing them with gel, masks, and gloves (Wikilabour.it, 2020). Out of 120 platforms in 23 countries, more than half have gone as far as offering bonuses and expanded sick pay to affected workers (Fairwork Project, 2020). However, according to unions, these measures are mere "PR spins," because without systematic COVID-19 testing, it is virtually impossible to claim payments (Independent Workers Union of Great Britain, 2020).

Another group of essential, yet invisible workers, are those that ensure the "last-mile of automation" (Gray and Suri, 2017), *i.e.*, contingent platform workers who do human-in-the-loop tasks such as data preparation and algorithm verification for artificial intelligence (Tubaro, *et al.*, 2020). Because such activities can generally be performed from home, some platforms have taken the epidemic as an opportunity to expand their offer, notably in the preparation of data for health-related applications. Effects are mixed and vary across types of activity and over time. Oxford's Online Labour Index data point out that work-from-home initially stagnated for many types of remote contractors (also including freelancers like designers) as companies with declining revenues downscaled online outsourcing (Stephany, *et al.*, 2020). However, several months into the pandemic, hiring has bounced back as lockdowns began to lift in Europe and North America and jumped to higher levels than ever before, driven by demand for IT freelancers. While at the time of writing, it is too early to see the long-run effects of this change, it suggests that companies may be switching to a platform model of organization that taskifies work and allocates it to underpaid workers all around the world.

Commercial content moderation is another type of last-mile digital labor consisting of tasks that are similar to those needed for automation (Roberts, 2019). Social media companies pay minimum-wage workers to perform human-judgment tasks that escape algorithmic assessment, filtering problematic contents ranging from terrorist propaganda to self-harm. Because of the sensitive nature of these tasks, moderators are not allowed to work from home. But they are essential, and Facebook has prioritized them for an early return to their offices, which exposes them to higher infection risk, while remote work continues for other employees (Biddle, 2020; Hatmaker, 2020).

Platform, gig, micro and more generally last-mile workers shoulder a disproportionate share of the risk. While their exposure to risk allows others to be safer, their contribution has been relatively little recognized. Future scenarios include use of industrial actions to increase recognition and improve working conditions of last-mile workers. COVID-19 has opened spaces of visibility by organizing workers at least in logistics. Across the U.S. and Europe, workers in Amazon fulfillment centers have launched walkouts over health risks and outbreaks in distribution facilities, with tech workers organizing "virtual walkouts" in solidarity. Since March 2020, delivery workers have staged street rallies and wildcat strikes to demand health measures or to protest remuneration cuts, potentially indicating new connections between digital inequalities, labor movements, and social protest.

# Implications of unequal risks and costs of CERPs: Taxonomies of vulnerability

History has taught us that during pandemics individuals suffer varying degrees of exposure risk, depending on their economic resources, occupation, health status, and other attributes. These trends are already implicated in the mortality rates of COVID-19, disproportionately striking low-SES communities. The Black Death in the fourteenth century reduced the European population by a third and led to widespread change that fundamentally altered power relations across society (Herlihy, 1997). With the highest number of deaths observed among the economically disadvantaged, the devastation wrought by that bubonic plague pandemic was particularly extreme within the already vulnerable communities (Ahmed, *et al.*, 2020). In modern times, economic disadvantage also played an important role in the impact of the Spanish Flu (Mamelund, 2006).

While the COVID-19 pandemic is still in its early stages, the highly unequal rates of infection and death across different communities and countries show that the COVID-19 pandemic is likely to follow the same pattern. Globally, low-socioeconomic status populations, as well as disadvantaged ethnic and racial minorities, are becoming infected and dying at much higher rates than their more privileged counterparts (Dyer, 2020). This disparity can be traced to many causes. Members of disadvantaged groups are forced to put themselves at

higher risk of exposure through their work, their consumption practices, and sometimes their mode of social communication. Certain occupational groups, for example, run a high risk of exposure. High-contact jobs carry high levels of risk of exposure for supermarket and grocery store staff, transit workers, food processing personnel, and other essential workers whose job conditions make it impossible to maintain social distance from coworkers and/or the public (Laurencin and McClinton, 2020).

Unlike pre-digital disease outbreaks in the past, however, resourced individuals can avail themselves of digital tools to avoid exposure risk. But these digital risk mitigation tools are only available to varying degrees across groups, activities, and socio-economic circumstances. Thus, digital inequalities have come into play for the first time in shaping exposure risks during a pandemic. Because digital inequalities contribute to COVID-19 exposure risks, this article examines the interplay between digital inequalities and COVID-19 exposure risk profiles stemming from these non-digital characteristics of individuals. In order to conduct this investigation, we therefore have focused on ideal typical exemplars drawn from illustrative populations, namely the socially isolated, older adults, penal system subjects, students, gig workers, and last-mile workers.

We have shown that individuals who belong to particular populations can differ in terms of their COVID-19 exposure risk profiles in part because they bring different digital resources to bear in their engagements with life realms such as work, school, consumption, and social communication. Using our ideal typical exemplars as case studies, we argue that the ways digital and analog resources are employed into these various life realms influences overall risk of exposure to the potentially deadly COVID-19 virus. As our study underscores, the conjunction of digital inequalities and non-digital inequalities are rendering certain subgroups significantly more vulnerable to exposure to COVID-19 around the world (Robinson, *et al.*, 2020a). As the pandemic continues, digital inequalities will continue to contribute to shaping the risk profiles for each group and thereby indirectly contribute to infection and potentially death rates.

Drawing on our concept of COVID-19 exposure risk profiles, we compare individuals as four types: the *sheltered and unconnected*, the *sheltered and connected*, the *exposed and connected*, and the *exposed and unconnected*. Each type is located in one of the four quadrants of the fourfold analytical scheme in order to represent the interaction of digital inequalities with other non-digital sources of exposure risk. Conceptualizing these risk profiles in terms of these four quadrants helps us to appreciate the key role of digital inequalities alongside socioeconomic inequalities and other kinds of non-digital disparities.

These disparities are most clear in the case of individuals with *sheltered and unconnected* CERP profiles (in the lower left-hand quadrant of all figures). The *sheltered and unconnected* are at the most danger of exposure risk across multiple life domains. They face exposure in multiple life realms at work and in their households without the benefits of any digital technologies to reduce in-person interaction or avoid shared and potentially contaminated physical space. Their shared living situation makes exposure more likely as they are subject to secondary exposure risk from the individuals sharing their living quarters - an effect of economic disadvantage. Further, they are constrained to engage in face-to-face interaction to meet the needs of their families and communities, as well as consumption of vital services such as medical care (Khilnani, *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, as our study shows, digital inequalities must be studied in dialogue with other inequalities.

Presenting a polar opposite risk profile, the *sheltered and connected* are ideal-typical individuals fortunate enough to be able to mitigate risk across all the life realms, including the productive realms of work and school. Occupying the bottom right-hand quadrant of the figures, people like *Pat, Carlos, Chet*, and *Jasmine* more easily minimize their face-to-face contacts because they can avail themselves of Internet shopping or delivery-based consumer services. At the same time, they use multi-modal digital

communication media to carry on their teleworking and remote learning, thus epitomizing how resourced individuals can maximize the use of digital resources as means of reducing COVID-19 exposure risk.

In a contrasting fashion, however, members of the *exposed and connected* CERP show that digital resources alone are insufficient to eliminate risk for last-mile workers, location-based gig workers, and those serving in essential services and medical care. Those individuals (*Maria, Amida*, and *Jordan* occupying the top right-hand quadrant of the fourfold table) are exposed to the risk of infection at work in their public-facing jobs. While they cannot entirely reduce risk at work, they can however, mitigate other kinds of exposure risk by using Internet purchasing and e-commerce strategies to obtain necessary consumer goods to avoid brick-and-mortar stores, as well as replacing face-to-face interaction with digital communications, thereby lowering their exposure risk to meet consumption and relational needs.

A rarer, but intriguing, type comprises those with *sheltered and unconnected* CERPs who enjoy a lower exposure risk even without access to digital resources. Exemplars *Elijah*, *Helmut*, *Karima*, and *Alexis* (bottom left of the fourfold table) have low risks of COVID-19 exposure despite their lack of digital communication channels. In these unusual cases, however, they are benefiting from some kind of specialized physical isolation — either their own personal physical isolation in the case of *Helmut* or their membership in rural or distant communities in the cases of *Kirima* or *Elijah*. One example of a collectively isolating distant community is the remote Alaskan town of Arctic Village that banned external travel in March 2020 (de la Garza, 2020). In such locales, digital media may be accessible only by satellite or forbidden by intentional community norms.

Significantly, as these CERPs show, while digital resources can play an important role in minimizing COVID-19 exposure risk, CERPs allow us to see how certain digitally enabled services shift exposure risk from consumers to particular workers. This is particularly evident in the case of last-mile workers and location-based gig workers who deliver goods to consumers and end-users. In so doing, they assume greater exposure risk on behalf of consumers. Like medical personnel, these workers shoulder some of the health risks "offloaded" by consumers who decline to or cannot brave the risks associated with shopping in brick-and-mortar venues. Last-mile workers are at the greatest risk of exposure and need the most attention through solutions such as contactless delivery services (Yu, 2020) and provision of protective equipment from gel to masks to gloves (Wikilabour.it, 2020). In this sense we can say that online or digitized consumption simply redistributes COVID-19 exposure risk away from more affluent consumers towards less affluent workers.

Thus, there is a zero-sum dimension to digital inequalities as a means of minimizing collective COVID-19 exposure risk, even if this is not necessarily apparent at the level of the individual. Future research can effectively use CERPs to examine the degree to which these increased risks are incurred differently along the lines of class, race, and education for different kinds of gig and last-mile workers (Ghosh, 2020) in response to the pandemic. In particular, comparative and cross-national work is needed on the plight of these workers. Study is especially needed of those from low-SES backgrounds whose work is essential for subsistence and for whom not working is not a viable option, particularly in countries without state-sponsored safety nets and in developing economies.

# Synthesis: COVID-19, digital inequalities, and future directions

This article has made important inroads illuminating important connections between digital inequalities and risk of exposure to COVID-19. Our concept of CERPs will be useful to future research on the panoply of risks associated with the pandemic including but not limited to economic insecurity and non-COVID related

diminished well-being such as longer-term health problems neglected during lockdowns. Other fertile grounds for inquiry prompted by our study are the intersections between digital inequalities, skills, and competencies that impact social isolation, telework, and learning. As we have seen, digital skills are critical to reduce social isolation and engage in telework. It would be valuable to analyze the success of initiatives transitioning during the pandemic and their success at reducing digital isolation and boosting competencies. Research could examine existing initiatives such as "Future dot now U.K." and #DevicesDotNow that provide both devices and training to vulnerable populations (Ragnedda, Ruiu, and Addeo, 2019). These issues are also salient to work needed on older adults (Quan-Haase, *et al.*, 2017) in light of the widening gap between younger and older people around the world (Schumacher and Kent, 2020).

As we have seen, learning gaps, as well as skill and competency disparities, are likely to occur among disadvantaged students. Future work should examine how existing "homework gaps" (Santillana, *et al.*, 2020) may translate into larger learning gaps during the pandemic. For students, issues of diminished learning opportunities also may negatively impact students and generate wider learning gaps with potentially lifelong consequences, particularly in terms of entry into the STEM pipeline (Robinson, 2020). In addition, the incarcerated may suffer additional disadvantage from suspension of remote education available to some prisoners, thereby creating negative impact on re-entry.

Another key area for scholarship is the opportunity provided by track-and-trace technologies and digital healthcare monitoring devices to improve the CERPs of individuals in congregate settings and public-facing jobs such as those in our study: older adults in care facilities, incarcerated individuals, students, and last-mile workers. Also, looking forward to the future, the precision and efficiency of digital monitoring may contribute toward better CERPs. Better precision may help prevent the high incidence of coronavirus or any other diseases in congregate settings where privacy is scarce. Privacy is another fertile ground for future research as students and teleworkers alike have reported increased vulnerability when others can see into their private lives and home environments in ways that put lower socio-economic individuals at risk for stigma (Robinson and Gran, 2018), necessitating work on best practices (Chen and Wellman, 2009).

Finally, our research on CERPs shows the difficult decisions created by risk of exposure to COVID-19. Future work must explore the emotional labor (Hochschild, 1979) necessitated by the pandemic. Emotional labor has already been linked to digital inequalities (Robinson, 2018). Therefore, researchers would do well to explore how the shift to telework and remote learning may require emotional labor for differently situated populations such as the potential stigma above related to socio-economic disadvantage among workers who "pay to work" by providing their own resources. Studies should also document the extraordinary emotion work done by gig and last-mile workers.

In closing, this examination shows that enhancing access to digital resources, particularly in the life realms of work, consumption, and social communication could potentially have a major impact in reducing COVID-19 exposure risk for many. With the unequal distribution of costs and important caveats regarding gig and last-mile workers in mind, groups, including the socially isolated, older adults, the incarcerated, students, and teleworkers could benefit from better access to digital resources that may substitute for hazardous in-person activities for work, education, consumption, and communication. Therefore, we argue that CERPs are the newest frontier in the study of digital inequalities with interest for scholars from many disciplines.

# About the authors

**Laura Robinson** is Associate Professor in the Department of Sociology at Santa Clara University. She earned her Ph.D. from UCLA, where she held a Mellon Fellowship in Latin American Studies and received a *Bourse d'Accueil* at the *École Normale Suprieure*. Robinson has served as Visiting Assistant Professor at Cornell University and as Chair of CITAMS (2014–2015). Her research has earned awards from CITASA, AOIR, and NCA IICD. In addition to digital inequalities, Robinson's work explores interaction and identity work, as well as media in Brazil, France, and the U.S.

Direct comments to: laura [at] laurarobinson [dot] org

Jeremy Schulz is Researcher at the UC Berkeley Institute for the Study of Societal Issues and a Fellow at the Cambridge Institute. He has also served as an Affiliate at the UC San Diego Center for Research on Gender in the Professions and a Council Member of the ASA Section on Consumers and Consumption. Previously, he held an NSF funded postdoctoral fellowship at Cornell University after earning his Ph.D. at UC Berkeley. He has also done research and published in areas including digital sociology, theory, qualitative research methods, work and family, and consumption.

E-mail: jmschulz [at] berkeley [dot] edu

Aneka Khilnani is currently a medical student at the George Washington University School of Medicine and Health Sciences in Washington, D.C. She completed a M.S. in physiology at Georgetown University, where she focused on preventative medicine and novel renal pharmacologics. She currently serves on the university's medical admissions committee and internal medicine board. She is also a representative for the American Association of Medical Colleges and actively conducts research in the Dermatology Department at Children's National Hospital. She has a special interest in telemedicine and digital inclusion. She has also served in numerous editorial positions, co-edited several volumes, and has published in the American Behavioral Scientist and Emerald Studies in Media and Communications.

E-mail: aneka [at] gwu [dot] edu

**Hiroshi Ono** (Ph.D., sociology, Chicago; Docent, Economics, Stockholm School of Economics) is Professor of Human Resources Management at Hitotsubashi University Business School and Affiliated Professor of Sociology at Texas A&M University. He writes and speaks extensively on the relationships among motivation, happiness and productivity in the workplace, and the interplay between demographic change and labor market dynamics in Japan. His latest research focuses on Japan's work reform, especially on reducing work hours and increasing labor productivity.

E-mail: hono [at] ics [dot] hub [dot] hit-u [dot] ac [dot] jp

Shelia R. Cotten is an MSU Foundation Professor and the Associate Chair for Research in the Department of Media and Information at Michigan State University. She holds Affiliate Professor positions in the Department of Sociology and the College of Engineering. Her research examines technology use across the life course and health, workforce, education, and social impacts of this use. She is a past Chair of CITAMS and has also won the William F. Ogburn Senior Career Award and the Public Sociology Award. Beginning 1 August 2020, she will be the Associate Vice President for Research Development and a Provost's Distinguished Professor at Clemson University.

E-mail: cotten [at] msu [dot] edu

**Noah McClain** is Assistant Professor of Sociology at the Illinois Institute of Technology. He is currently investigating how the inner workings of proprietary technologies are being deployed to frame the actions of unaware, disempowered humans as criminal; how prisoners improvise with scant material at hand; and the technologies of security and social control. Before joining Illinois Tech he was a Postdoctoral Fellow at the

Bard Prison Initiative, and a visiting scholar at New York University's Institute for Public Knowledge. E-mail: mcclain1 [at] gmail [dot] com

Hon. **Lloyd Levine** (ret.) is a Senior Policy Fellow at UC Riverside's School of Public Policy and a former member of the California State Legislature. Levine served as Chair of the Assembly Committee on Utilities and Commerce, specializing in issues relating to electricity, renewable energy, telecommunications, and broadband. He is the co-founder of the Center for Technology, Policy and Society at UC Riverside's School of Public Policy and a founding board member of the California Emerging Technology Fund. E-mail: lloydlevine [at] outlook [dot] com

Dr. **Wenhong Chen** is associate professor of media studies and sociology at the University of Texas at Austin. Her research has focused on digital media technologies in entrepreneurial and civic settings. Dr. Chen has more than 70 publications, including articles in top-ranked journals in the fields of communication and media studies, sociology, and management. Dr. Chen's research has received awards from the American Sociological Association, International Communication Association, and International Association of Chinese Management Research.

E-mail: wenhong [dot] chen [at] austin [dot] utexas [dot] edu

**Gejun Huang** earned his Ph.D. degree in media studies from the Department of Radio-TV-Film, UT Austin. His research focuses on the global game industry, media entrepreneurship, cultural policy and creative economy, and the sociocultural impacts of digital media technologies. He has published in peer-reviewed journals including *Chinese Journal of Communication*, *American Behavioral Scientist*, and *Information, Communication & Society*.

E-mail: 1990215hgj [at] gmail [dot] com

**Antonio A. Casilli** is a professor of sociology at Telecom Paris, the telecommunication school of the Institut Polytechnique de Paris, and a researcher at the Interdisciplinary Institute on Innovation (i3). His research foci are digital labor, data governance, and human rights. He is the author of the award-winning book *En attendant les robots* (Editions du Seuil, 2019) and one of the co-creators of the documentary miniseries *Invisibles* (France Télévisions, 2020) about platform workers.

E-mail: antonio [dot] casilli [at] telecom-paris [dot] fr

Paola Tubaro is Associate Research Professor at the National Centre for Scientific Research (CNRS, in French Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique). Tubaro is affiliated with the Laboratoire de Recherche en Informatique (CNRS, INRIA, and Université Paris-Saclay). At the crossroads of sociology, economics, and computer science, Tubaro's research explores the effects of big data and machine learning on markets, organizations, and labor. Her interests also include data methodologies and research ethics.

E-mail: paola [dot] tubaro [at] inria [dot] fr

Matías Dodel olds a Ph.D. from the Department of Sociology, University of Haifa. He is an associate Professor of Communication at Universidad Católica del Uruguay. He is the director of the Internet of People (IoP) research group, where he coordinates the Uruguayan chapters of international comparative Internet studies such as World Internet Project, DiSTO (From Digital Skills to Tangible Outcomes), and Global Kids Online. His research interests are digital inequalities, social stratification, digital safety, and cybercrime.

E-mail: matias [dot] dodel [at] ucu [dot] edu [dot] uy

**Anabel Quan-Haase** is Professor in the Department of Sociology and Faculty of Information and Media Studies at Western University in Canada. Anabel Quan-Haase's research interests lie in the area of computer-mediated communication, the networked society, social networks, and new media and social change. Her

current research projects examine how young people use instant messaging, Facebook, mobile phones and other communication tools and what the social consequences are for their social relations, community, and social capital.

E-mail: aquan [at] uwo [dot] ca

Maria Laura Ruiu is a lecturer at Northumbria University (Newcastle upon Tyne). She has recently completed her second Ph.D. in social sciences (Northumbria University). She also acted as post-doctoral researcher at the Desertification Research Centre (University of Sassari, Italy) investigating the adaptive capacity of some communities to climate change impact.

E-mail: maria [at] northumbria [dot] ac [dot] uk

Massimo Ragnedda (Ph.D.) is a Senior Lecturer in Mass Communication at Northumbria University, Newcastle, U.K. where he conducts research on the digital divide and social media. He is the co-vice chair of the Digital Divide Working Group (IAMCR) and co-convenor of NINSO (Northumbria Internet and Society Research Group). He has authored 12 books with his publications appearing in numerous peer-reviewed journals, and book chapters in English, Spanish, Italian, Portuguese and Russian texts. His books include: Digital capital: A Bourdieusian perspective on the digital divide (with Maria Laura Ruiu), Emerald Publishing, 2020; Digital inclusion: An international comparative analysis (co-edited with Bruce Mutsvairo), Lexington Books 2018; Theorizing the digital divide (co-edited with G. Muschert), Routledge (2017); The third digital divide: A Weberian approach to digital inequalities (2017), Routledge; The digital divide: The Internet and social inequality in international perspective (co-edited with G. Muschert) (2013), Routledge. E-mail: massimo [dot] ragnedda [at] northumbria [dot] ac [dot] uk

A former journalist, **Deb Aikat** has been a faculty member since 1995 in the Hussman School of Media and Journalism at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Aikat is co-author of the 2019 book, *Agendamelding: News, social media, audiences, and civic community* with Don Shaw, Milad Minooie and Chris Vargo. *Agendamelding* theorizes how audiences meld the media messages in our 21<sup>st</sup> century digital age. Recognized as a winning title in the 2016 AEJMC-Peter Lang Scholarsourcing competition, this book marks the 50<sup>th</sup> anniversary of the seminal 1968 agenda-setting study in UNC-Chapel Hill. The Scripps Howard Foundation recognized Aikat as the inaugural winner of the "National Journalism Teacher of the Year" (2003) for his "distinguished service to journalism education." Aikat's research has been published in book chapters and research journals. Aikat earned a Certificate in American political culture from New York University and a Ph.D. from Ohio University. Aikat was elected by peers to serve in 2020–21 as Vice-President of AEJMC, one of the premier scholarly organizations in our field. He will serve as the AEJMC President for the 2022–23 year culminating in the 2023 AEJMC conference in Washington, D.C. E-mail: da [at] unc [dot] edu

**Natalia Tolentino** is pursuing graduate work in education at California Polytechnic University, San Luis Obispo (Cal Poly) and earning her Multiple Subject Credential. She earned her Bachelor of Arts in liberal studies, with an emphasis in English, at Azusa Pacific University (APU). Her scholarly achievements have been recognized by membership in the Dean's List throughout her undergraduate career, as well as being awarded the Filipino-American Association Scholarship, Santa Barbara Scholarship Foundation Scholarship, and Transfer Merit Scholarship. At APU, she was elected into Azusa Pacific University's English Honor Society, Sigma Tau Delta.

E-mail: nmtolent [at] calpoly [dot] edu

# **Acknowledgements**

We thank Edward J. Valauskas, Chief Editor and Founder of *First Monday*, for the opportunity to publish our work thanks to the journal's pioneering provision of the open access publishing model. In the spirit of digital inclusion, we can think of no better venue to share our research. In addition, we thank the anonymous reviewers for their time and commentary, as well as Aneka Khilnani (Managing Editor) and Natalia Tolentino (Assistant Editor) for their exemplary work and service.

# Note

1. The order of authors reflects the sequence of contributions as follows. "Digital inequalities in time of pandemic: COVID-19 exposure risk profiles as taxonomies of vulnerability" was co-authored by: Laura Robinson, Jeremy Schulz, and Aneka Khilnani (Overview of COVID-19 exposure risk profiles, Digital inequalities Meets COVID-19: Taxonomies of vulnerability, and Implications of unequal risks and costs: CERPs as taxonomies of vulnerability); Hiroshi Ono (Social isolation), Shelia R. Cotten (Older adults); Noah McClain (Incarceration); Lloyd Levine (Education); Wenhong Chen and Gejun Huang (Telework); Antonio A. Casilli and Paola Tubaro (Gig, platform-, micro-, and last-mile workers); Matías Dodel, Anabel Quan-Haase, Maria Laura Ruiu, Massimo Ragnedda, Deb Aikat, and Natalia Tolentino (Implications of unequal risks and costs: CERPs as taxonomies of vulnerability and synthesis: COVID-19, digital inequalities, and future directions).

# References

Faheem Ahmed, Na'eem Ahmed, Christopher Pissarides, and Joseph Stiglitz, 2020. "Why inequality could spread COVID-19," *Lancet Public Health*, volume 5, number 5 (2 April), e240. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30085-2, accessed 18 June 2020.

Ramiro Albrieu, 2020. "Evaluando las oportunidades y los lmites del teletrabajo en Argentina en tiempos del COVID-19," *Centro de Implementación de Políticas Públicas para la Equidad y el Crecimiento (CIPPEC)*, at <a href="https://www.cippec.org/publicacion/evaluando-las-oportunidades-y-los-limites-del-teletrabajo-en-argentina-en-tiempos-del-covid-19/">https://www.cippec.org/publicacion/evaluando-las-oportunidades-y-los-limites-del-teletrabajo-en-argentina-en-tiempos-del-covid-19/</a>, accessed 22 April 2020.

Monica Anderson and Andrew Perrin, 2017. "Tech adoption climbs among older adults," *Pew Research Center* (17 May), at <a href="https://www.pewinternet.org/2017/05/17/tech-adoption-climbs-among-older-adults/">https://www.pewinternet.org/2017/05/17/tech-adoption-climbs-among-older-adults/</a>, accessed 10 April 2020.

Kye Askins and Rachel Pain, 2011. "Contact zones: Patricipation, materiality, and the messiness of interaction," *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, volume 29, number 5, pp. 803–821. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1068/d11109">https://doi.org/10.1068/d11109</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Mirko Bagaric, Nick Ficher, and Dan Hunter, 2018. "The hardship that is Internet deprivation and what it means for sentencing: Development of the Internet sanction and connectivity for prisoners," *Akron Law Review*, volume 41, number 2, pp. 261–322, and

at http://ideaexchange.uakron.edu/akronlawreview/vol51/iss2/2, accessed 18 June 2020.

Bay Area Council, 2020. "New CEO survey finds dramatic workplace changes in response to COVID-19" (15 May), at <a href="https://www.bayareacouncil.org/press-releases/new-ceo-survey-finds-dramatic-workplace-changes-in-response-to-covid-19">https://www.bayareacouncil.org/press-releases/new-ceo-survey-finds-dramatic-workplace-changes-in-response-to-covid-19</a>/, accessed 5 June 2020.

Ulrich Beck, 1992. Risk society: Towards a new modernity. Translated by Mark Ritter. London: Sage.

Ronald W. Berkowsky, Shelia R. Cotten, Elizabeth A. Yost, and Vicki P. Winstead, 2013. "Attitudes towards and limitations to ICT use in assisted and independent living communities: Findings from a specially-designed technological intervention," *Educational Gerontology*, volume 39, number 11, pp. 797–811. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2012.734162, accessed 18 June 2020.

Sam Biddle, 2020. "Facebook contractors must work in offices during coronavirus pandemic — while staff stay home," *The Intercept* (12 March), at <a href="https://theintercept.com/2020/03/12/coronavirus-facebook-contractors/">https://theintercept.com/2020/03/12/coronavirus-facebook-contractors/</a>, accessed 15 April 2020.

John T. Cacioppo, Louise C. Hawkley, and Ronald A. Thisted, 2010. "Perceived social isolation makes me sad: 5-year cross-lagged analyses of loneliness and depressive symptomatology in the Chicago Health, Aging, and Social Relations Study," *Psychology and Aging*, volume 25, number 2, pp. 453–463. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017216">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017216</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

John T. Cacioppo, Louise C. Hawkley, Gary G. Berntson, John M. Ernst, Amber C. Gibbs, Robert Stickgold, and J. Allan Hobson, 2002. "Do lonely days invade the nights? Potential social modulation of sleep efficiency," *Psychological Science*, volume 13, number 4, pp. 384–387. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00469, accessed 18 June 2020.

California Department of Education, 2020. "Distance learning considerations" (17 March), at <a href="https://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/cr/dl/dlconsiderations.asp">https://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/cr/dl/dlconsiderations.asp</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 2020. "Coronavirus 2019: Older adults" (30 April), at <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/older-adults.html">https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/older-adults.html</a>, accessed 10 April 2020.

Michael Chan, 2015. "Multimodal connectedness and quality of life: Examining the influences of technology adoption and interpersonal communication on well-being across the life span," *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, volume 20, number 1, pp. 3–18. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12089, accessed 18 June 2020.

Wenhong Chen and Barry Wellman, 2009. "Net and jet: The Internet use, travel and social networks of chinese canadian entrepreneurs," *Information, Communication & Society*, number 4, pp. 525–547. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/13691180902858080, accessed 18 June 2020.

City of New York, 2020. "Inmate video visitation," at <a href="https://portal.311.nyc.gov/article/?kanumber=KA-02003">https://portal.311.nyc.gov/article/?kanumber=KA-02003</a>, accessed 16 April 2020.

Jennifer E. Cobbina, Beth M. Huebner, and Mark T. Berg, 2012. "Men, women, and postrelease offending: An examination of the nature of the link between relational ties and recidivism," *Crime & Delinquency*, volume 58, number 3, pp. 331–361.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128710382348, accessed 18 June 2020.

Joshua C. Cochran, J. C. Barnes, Daniel P. Mears, and William D. Bales, 2020. "Revisiting the effect of visitation on recidivism," *Justice Quarterly*, volume 37, number 2, pp. 304–331. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/07418825.2018.1508606, accessed 18 June 2020.

Megan L. Comfort, 2002. ""Papa's house': The prison as domestic and social satellite," *Ethnography*, volume 3, number 4, pp. 467–499.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/1466138102003004017, accessed 18 June 2020.

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 2020. "Video visitation program," at <a href="https://www.cor.pa.gov/family-and-friends/Pages/Video-Visitation.aspx">https://www.cor.pa.gov/family-and-friends/Pages/Video-Visitation.aspx</a>, accessed 12 May, 2020.

Shelia R. Cotten, 2020. "Technologies and aging: Understanding use, impacts, and future needs," In: Kenneth Ferraro, Deborah Carr, and Kenneth Ferraro (editors). *Handbook of aging and the social sciences*. Ninth edition.

Shelia R. Cotten, Elizabeth A. Yost, Ronald W. Berkowsky, Vicki Winstead, and William A. Anderson, 2016. *Designing technology training for older adults in continuing care retirement communities*. Boca Raton, Fla.: CRC Press.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315382463, accessed 18 June 2020.

Sacha Darke and Marie Lucia Karam, 2016. "Latin American prisons," In: Yvonne Jewkes, Ben Crewe, and Jamie Bennett (editors).>*Handbook on prisons*. Second edition. London: Routledge, pp. 460–473. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315797779">https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315797779</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Alejandro de la Garza, 2020. "Alaska's remote villages are cutting themselves off to avoid even 'one single case' of coronavirus," *Time* (31 March), at <a href="https://time.com/5813162/alaska-coronavirus/">https://time.com/5813162/alaska-coronavirus/</a>, accessed 1 June 2020.

Drew DeSilver, 2020. "Before the coronavirus, telework was an optional benefit, mostly for the affluent few," *Pew Research Center* (20 March), at <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/03/20/before-the-coronavirus-telework-was-an-optional-benefit-mostly-for-the-affluent-few/">https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/03/20/before-the-coronavirus-telework-was-an-optional-benefit-mostly-for-the-affluent-few/</a>, accessed 20 March 2020.

Saneta deVuono-powell, Chris Schweidler, Alicia Walters, and Azadeh Zohrabi, 2015. "Who pays? The true cost of incarceration on families," *Ella Baker Center for Human Rights*, at <a href="https://ellabakercenter.org/who-pays-the-true-cost-of-incarceration-on-families">https://ellabakercenter.org/who-pays-the-true-cost-of-incarceration-on-families</a>, accessed 13 May 2020.

Jonathan Dingel and Brent Neiman, 2020. "How many jobs can be done at home?" *Becker Friedman Institute for Economics, University of Chicago* (16 April), at <a href="https://bfi.uchicago.edu/working-paper/how-many-jobs-can-be-done-at-home/">https://bfi.uchicago.edu/working-paper/how-many-jobs-can-be-done-at-home/</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Émile Durkheim, 1951. *Suicide: A study in sociology*. Translated by John A. Spaulding and George Simpson. Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press.

Owen Dyer, 2020. "Covid-19: Black people and other minorities are hardest hit in US," *British Medical Journal*, volume 369, number 2 (14 April), m1483.

doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1483">https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1483</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

*Economist*, 2020. "Nayib Bukele's power grab in El Salvador," at <a href="https://www.economist.com/the-americas/2020/05/07/nayib-bukeles-power-grab-in-el-salvador">https://www.economist.com/the-americas/2020/05/07/nayib-bukeles-power-grab-in-el-salvador</a>, accessed 12 May 2020.

Fairwork Project, 2020. "The gig economy and Covid-19: Fairwork report on platform policies," at https://fair.work/fairwork-releases-report-on-platform-responses-to-covid-19/, accessed 15 May 2020.

Harley Frazis, 2020. "Who telecommutes? Where is the time saved spent?" *U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Working Paper*, number 523, at <a href="https://www.bls.gov/osmr/research-papers/2020/pdf/ec200050.pdf">https://www.bls.gov/osmr/research-papers/2020/pdf/ec200050.pdf</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Hernan Galperin, 2017. "Why are half of Latin Americans not online? A four-country study of reasons for Internet non-adoption," *International Journal of Communication*, volume 11, pp. 3,332–3,354, and at <a href="https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/6287">https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/6287</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Lazaro Gamio, 2020. "The workers who face the greatest coronavirus risk," *New York Times* (15 March), at <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/03/15/business/economy/coronavirus-worker-risk.html">https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/03/15/business/economy/coronavirus-worker-risk.html</a>, accessed 15 April 2020.

Ritujay Ghosh, 2020. "Coronavirus leads to surge in online delivery: 5 top gainers," *Yahoo Finance* (16 April), at <a href="https://finance.yahoo.com/news/coronavirus-leads-surge-online-delivery-122412883.html">https://finance.yahoo.com/news/coronavirus-leads-surge-online-delivery-122412883.html</a>, accessed 20 April 2020.

Anthony Giddens, 1990. The consequences of modernity. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Global Workplace Analytics, 2020. "Work-at-home after Covid-19 — Our forecast," at https://globalworkplaceanalytics.com/work-at-home-after-covid-19-our-forecast, accessed 15 May 2020.

Mary L. Gray and Siddharth Suri, 2017. "The humans working behind the AI curtain," *Harvard Business Review* (9 January), at <a href="https://hbr.org/2017/01/the-humans-working-behind-the-ai-curtain">https://hbr.org/2017/01/the-humans-working-behind-the-ai-curtain</a>, accessed 12 April 2020.

James Cengiz Gulek and Hakan Demirtas, 2005. "Learning with technology: The impact of laptop use on student achievement," *Journal of Technology, Learning and Assessment*, volume 3, number 2, pp. 4–35, and at <a href="https://ejournals.bc.edu/index.php/jtla/article/view/1655">https://ejournals.bc.edu/index.php/jtla/article/view/1655</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Katherine Guyot and Isabel V. Sawhill, 2020. "Telecommuting will likely continue long after the pandemic," *Brookings Institution* (6 April), at <a href="https://www.brookings.edu/blog/up-front/2020/04/06/telecommuting-will-likely-continue-long-after-the-pandemic/">https://www.brookings.edu/blog/up-front/2020/04/06/telecommuting-will-likely-continue-long-after-the-pandemic/</a>, accessed 10 June 2020.

John Hagan and Ronit Dinovitzer, 1999. "Collateral consequences of imprisonment for children, communities, and prisoners," *Crime and Justice*, volume 26, pp. 121–162. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1086/449296">https://doi.org/10.1086/449296</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Craig Haney, 2003. "Mental health issues in long-term solitary and 'supermax' confinement," *Crime & Delinquency*, volume 49, number 1, pp. 124–156.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128702239239, accessed 18 June 2020.

Eszter Hargittai, Ann Marie Piper, and Meredith Ringel Morris, 2019. "From Internet access to Internet skills: Digital inequality among older adults," *Universal Access in the Information Society*, volume 18, pp. 881–890. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-018-0617-5">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-018-0617-5</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Jim Harter, 2020. "How coronavirus will change the 'next normal' workplace," *Gallup* (1 May), at <a href="https://www.gallup.com/workplace/309620/coronavirus-change-next-normal-workplace.aspx">https://www.gallup.com/workplace/309620/coronavirus-change-next-normal-workplace.aspx</a>, accessed 16 June 2020.

Taylor Hatmaker, 2020. "Facebook wants content reviewers back ASAP, slows return plan for most employees" (16 April), at <a href="https://techcrunch.com/2020/04/16/facebook-content-moderators-wfh-when-will-facebook-employees-return/">https://techcrunch.com/2020/04/16/facebook-content-moderators-wfh-when-will-facebook-employees-return/</a>, accessed 20 April 2020.

David Herlihy, 1997. *The Black Death and the transformation of the West*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.

Arlie Russell Hochschild, 1979. "Emotion work, feeling rules, and social structure," *American Journal of Sociology*, volume 85, number 3, pp. 551–575.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1086/227049, accessed 18 June 2020.

Julianne Holt-Lunstad, Timothy B. Smith, Mark Baker, Tyler Harris, and David Stephenson, 2015. "Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for mortality: A meta-analytic review," *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, volume 10, number 2, pp. 227–237.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691614568352, accessed 18 June 2020.

Ellen L. Idler and Stanislav V. Kasl, 1992. "Religion, disability, depression, and the timing of death," *American Journal of Sociology*, volume 97, number 4, pp.1,052–1,079. doi: https://doi.org/10.1086/229861, accessed 18 June 2020.

Independent Workers Union of Great Britain (IWGB), 2020. "Deliveroo Covid-19 hardship funds are unworkable; IWGB Couriers send demands to 'gig economy' employers" (18 March), at <a href="https://iwgb.org.uk/post/deliveroo-covid-19-hardship-funds-are-unworkable-iwgb-couriers-send-demands-to-gig-economy-employers">https://iwgb.org.uk/post/deliveroo-covid-19-hardship-funds-are-unworkable-iwgb-couriers-send-demands-to-gig-economy-employers</a>, accessed 15 May 2020.

Linda A. Jackson, Alexander von Eye, A., Frank A. Biocca, Gretchen Barbatsis, Yong Zhao, and Hiram E. Fitzgerald, 2006. "Does home Internet use influence the academic performance of low-income children?" *Developmental Psychology*, volume 42, number 3, pp. 429–435. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.3.429">https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.3.429</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Aneka Khilnani, Laura Robinson, and Jeremy Schulz, 2020. "The COVID-19 pandemic: New concerns and connections between eHealth and digital," *Journal of Information, Communication and Ethics in Society*.

James S. Kim and David M. Quinn, 2013. "The effects of summer reading on low-income children's literacy achievement from kindergarten to grade 8: A meta-analysis of classroom and home interventions," *Review of Educational Research*, volume 83, number 3, pp. 386–431.

doi: https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654313483906, accessed 18 June 2020.

Stuart A. Kinner, Jesse T. Young, Kathryn Snow, Louise Southalan, Daniel Lopez-Acuña, Carina Ferreira-Borges, and Éammon O'Moore, 2020. "Prisons and custodial settings are part of a comprehensive response to COVID-19," *Lancet Public Health*, volume 5, number 4, pp, e188–e189. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30058-X, accessed 1 July 2020.

Stephen M. Kissler, Christine Tedijanto, Edward Goldstein, Yonatan H. Grad, and Marc Lipsitch, 2020. "Projecting the transmission dynamics of SARS-CoV-2 through the postpandemic period," *Science*, volume

368, number 6493 (22 May), pp. 860-868.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abb5793, accessed 18 June 2020.

Eric Klinenberg, 2002. *Heat wave: A social autopsy of disaster in Chicago*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Hanna Kozlowska, 2015. "Are video visits a smart innovation for jails — or yet another way to exploit families?" *Quartz* (30 April), at <a href="https://qz.com/386789/are-video-visits-in-jails-a-smart-innovation-or-yet-another-way-to-exploit-families/">https://qz.com/386789/are-video-visits-in-jails-a-smart-innovation-or-yet-another-way-to-exploit-families/</a>, accessed 13 May 2020.

Diana Kruzman, 2018. "In U.S. prisons, tablets open window to the outside world," *Reuters* (18 July), at <a href="https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-prisons-computers/in-u-s-prisons-tablets-open-window-to-the-outside-world-idUSKBN1K813D">https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-prisons-computers/in-u-s-prisons-tablets-open-window-to-the-outside-world-idUSKBN1K813D</a>, accessed 13 May 2020.

Megan Kuhfeld and Beth Tarasawa, 2020. "The COVID-19 slide: What summer learning loss can tell us about the potential impact of school closures on student academic achievement," >Northwest Evaluation Association, at <a href="https://www.nwea.org/research/publication/the-covid-19-slide-what-summer-learning-loss-can-tell-us-about-the-potential-impact-of-school-closures-on-student-academic-achievement/">https://www.nwea.org/research/publication/the-covid-19-slide-what-summer-learning-loss-can-tell-us-about-the-potential-impact-of-school-closures-on-student-academic-achievement/</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Cato T. Laurencin and Aneesha McClinton, 2020. "The COVID-19 pandemic: A call to action to identify and address racial and ethnic disparities," *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, volume 7, pp. 398–402. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-020-00756-0, accessed 18 June 2020.

Lloyd Levine, 2018. "Closing the digital divide: A justification for government intervention," *Studies in Media and Communications*, volume 18, pp. 9–36.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1108/S2050-206020180000018003, accessed 18 June 2020.

Rich Ling, 2008. "Should we be concerned that the elderly don't text?" *Information Society*, volume 24, number 5, pp. 334–341.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/01972240802356125, accessed 18 June 2020.

Paul Lioy and Clifford Weisel, 2014. *Exposure science: Basic principles and applications*. London: Academic Press.

Svenn-Erik Mamelund, 2006. "A socially neutral disease? Individual social class, household wealth and mortality from Spanish influenza in two socially contrasting parishes in Kristiania 1918–19," *Social Science & Medicine*, volume 62, number 4, pp. 923–940.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.06.051, accessed 18 June 2020.

Miller McPherson, Lynn Smith-Lovin, and Matthew E. Brashears, 2006. "Social isolation in America: Changes in core discussion networks over two decades," *American Sociological Review*, volume 71, number 3, pp. 353–375.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/000312240607100301, accessed 18 June 2020.

Christina E. Miyawaki, 2015. "Association of social isolation and health across different racial and ethnic groups of older Americans," *Aging & Society*, volume 35, number 10, pp. 2,201–2,228. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X14000890">https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X14000890</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Marie Morelle, Sylvain Faye, and Frederic Le Macris, 2020. "Prisons in the time of the Coronavirus pandemic in Africa," *African Arguments* (8 May), at <a href="https://africanarguments.org/2020/05/08/prisons-in-the-time-of-the-coronavirus-pandemic-in-africa/">https://africanarguments.org/2020/05/08/prisons-in-the-time-of-the-coronavirus-pandemic-in-africa/</a>, accessed 13 May 2020.

Odoxa, 2020. "Lutte contre le Covid-19: Réactions des Français à l'allocution d'E. Macron et face au confinement," at <a href="http://www.odoxa.fr/sondage/francais-confinement-bonne-chose-aurait-meme-etre-decide-plus-tot/">http://www.odoxa.fr/sondage/francais-confinement-bonne-chose-aurait-meme-etre-decide-plus-tot/</a>, accessed 15 May 2020.

Hiroshi Ono and Madeline Zavodny, 2008. "Immigrants, English ability and the digital divide," *Social Forces*, volume 86, number 4, pp. 1,455–1,479.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.0.0052, accessed 18 June 2020.

Anabel Quan-Haase, Guang Ying Mo, and Barry Wellman, 2017. "Connected seniors: How older adults in East York exchange social support online and offline," *Information, Communication & Society*, volume 20, number 7, pp. 967–983.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2017.1305428, accessed 18 June 2020.

Massimo Ragnedda, Maria Laura Ruiu, and Felice Addeo, 2019. "Measuring digital capital: An empirical investigation," *New Media & Society*, volume 22, number 5, pp. 793–816. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444819869604, accessed 18 June 2020.

Richard V. Reeves and Jonathan Rothwell, 2020. "Class and COVID: How the less affluent face double risks," *Brookings Institution* (27 March), at <a href="https://www.brookings.edu/blog/up-front/2020/03/27/class-and-covid-how-the-less-affluent-face-double-risks/amp/">https://www.brookings.edu/blog/up-front/2020/03/27/class-and-covid-how-the-less-affluent-face-double-risks/amp/</a>, accessed 27 March 2020.

Bianca C. Reisdorf and Yvonne Jewkes, 2016. "(B) Locked sites: Cases of Internet use in three British prisons," *Information, Communication & Society*, volume 19, number 6, pp. 771–786. doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2016.1153124">https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2016.1153124</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Robert Riggs, in press. "Men's social integration after incarceration: The role of organizationally embedded prison-forged networks," *Social Problems*.

Sarah T. Roberts, 2019. *Behind the screen: Content moderation in the shadows of social media*. New Haven Conn.: Yale University Press.

Laura Robinson, 2020. "The STEM selfing process: Nondigital and digital determinants of aspirational STEM futures," *American Behavioral Scientist* (4 June).

doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764220919150, accessed 17 June 2020.

Laura Robinson, 2018. "The identity curation game: Digital inequality, identity work, and emotion management," *Information, Communication & Society*, volume 21, number 5, pp. 661–680. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2017.1411521, accessed 18 June 2020.

Laura Robinson and Brian K. Gran, 2018. "No kid is an island: Privacy scarcities and digital inequalities," *American Behavioral Scientist*, volume 62, number 10, pp. 1,413–1,430. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218787014, accessed 17 June 2020.

Laura Robinson and Jeremy Schulz, 2013. "Net time negotiations within the family," *Information, Communication & Society*, volume 16, number 4, pp. 542–560. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2013.777761, accessed 18 June 2020.

Laura Robinson, Øyvind Wiborg, and Jeremy Schulz, 2018. "Interlocking inequalities: Digital stratification meets academic stratification," *American Behavioral Scientist*, volume 62, number 9. pp. 1,251–1,272. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218773826, accessed 18 June 2020.

Laura Robinson, Jeremy Schulz, Grant Blank, Massimo Ragnedda, Hiroshi Ono, Bernie Hogan, Gustavo Mesch, Shelia R. Cotten, Susan B. Kretchmer, Timothy M. Hale, Tomasz Drabowicz, Pu Yan, Barry Wellman, Molly-Gloria Harper, Anabel Quan-Haase, Hopeton S. Dunn, Antonio A. Casilli, Paola Tubaro, Rod Carveth, Wenhong Chen, Julie B. Wiest, Matías Dodel, Michael J. Stern, Christopher Ball, Kuo-Ting Huang, and Aneka Khilnani, 2020a. "Digital inequalities 2.0: Legacy inequalities in the information age," *First Monday*, volume 25, number 7.

doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.5210/fm.v25i7.10842, accessed 1 July 2020.

Laura Robinson, Jeremy Schulz, Hopeton S. Dunn, Antonio A. Casilli, Paola Tubaro, Rod Carveth, Wenhong Chen, Julie B. Wiest, Matías Dodel, Michael J. Stern, Christopher Ball, Kuo-Ting Huang, Grant Blank, Massimo Ragnedda, Hiroshi Ono, Bernie Hogan, Gustavo Mesch, Shelia R. Cotten, Susan B. Kretchmer, Timothy M. Hale, Tomasz Drabowicz, Pu Yan, Barry Wellman, Molly-Gloria Harper, Anabel Quan-Haase, and Aneka Khilnani, 2020b. "Digital inequalities 3.0: Emergent inequalities in the information age," *First Monday*, volume 25, number 7.

doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.5210/fm.v25i7.10844, accessed 1 July 2020.

Laura Robinson, Jeremy Schulz, Matías Dodel, Teresa Correa, Eduardo Villanueva-Mansilla, Sayonara Leal, Claudia Magallanes-Blanco, Leonardo Rodriguez-Medina, Hopeton S. Dunn, Lloyd Levine, Rob McMahon, and Aneka Khilnani, 2020c. "Digital inclusion across the Americas and Caribbean," *Social Inclusion*, volume 8, number 2, pp. 244–259.

doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.17645/si.v8i2.2632, accessed 18 June 2020.

Fernando Salla, Paula R. Ballesteros, Olga Espinoza, Fernando Martinez, Paula Litvachky, and Anabella Museri, 2009. "Democracy, human rights and prison conditions in South America," at <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/280922326">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/280922326</a> Democracy Human Rights and Prison Conditions in South America, accessed 13 May 2020.

doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.2730.4803, accessed 1 July 2020.

Melissa Santillana, Joe Straubhaar, Alexis Schrubbe, Jaewon Choi, and Sharon Strover, 2020. "Digital inequalities: Homework gap and techno-capital in Austin, Texas," *First Monday*, volume 25, number 7. doi: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.5210/fm.v25i7">http://dx.doi.org/10.5210/fm.v25i7</a>., accessed 1 July 2020.

Shannon Schumacher and Nicholas Kent, 2020. "8 charts on Internet use around the world as countries grapple with COVID-19," *Pew Research Center* (2 April), at <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/04/02/8-charts-on-internet-use-around-the-world-as-countries-grapple-with-covid-19/">https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/04/02/8-charts-on-internet-use-around-the-world-as-countries-grapple-with-covid-19/</a>, accessed 10 April 2020.

David M. Shapiro, 2016. "Lenient in theory, dumb in fact: Prison, speech, and scrutiny," *George Washington Law Review*, volume 84, pp. 972–1,028, and at <a href="https://www.gwlr.org/lenient-in-theory-dumb-in-fact-prison-speech-and-scrutiny">https://www.gwlr.org/lenient-in-theory-dumb-in-fact-prison-speech-and-scrutiny</a>/, accessed 18 June 2020.

Iram Siraj-Blatchford, 2004. "Educational disadvantage in the early years: How do we overcome it? Some lessons from research," *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, volume 12, number 2, pp. 5–20.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/13502930485209391, accessed 18 June 2020.

Fabian Stephany, Michael Dunn, Steven Sawyer and Vili Lehdonvirta, 2020. "Distancing bonus or downscaling loss? The changing livelihood of US online workers in times of COVID-19," SocArXiv vmg34, Center for Open Science, at https://ideas.repec.org/p/osf/socarx/vmg34.html, accessed 18 June 2020.

Andrew Steptoe, Apama Shankar, Panayotes Demakakos, and Jane Wardle, 2013. "Social isolation, loneliness, and all-cause mortality in older men and women," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, volume 110, number 15 (9 April), pp. 5,797–5,801.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1219686110, accessed 18 June 2020.

Yeow Meng Thum and Carl H. Hauser, 2015. "NWEA 2015 MAP norms for student and school achievement status and growth," *Northwest Evaluation Association (NWEA) Research Report*, at <a href="https://www.nwea.org/content/uploads/2018/01/2015-MAP-Norms-for-Student-and-School-Achievement-Status-and-Growth.pdf">https://www.nwea.org/content/uploads/2018/01/2015-MAP-Norms-for-Student-and-School-Achievement-Status-and-Growth.pdf</a>, accessed 18 June 2020.

Hsin-yi Sandy Tsai, Ruth Shillair, and Shelia R. Cotten, 2017. "Social support and 'playing around': An examination of how older adults acquire digital literacy with tablet computers," *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, volume 36, number 1, pp. 29–55.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464815609440, accessed 18 June 2020.

Paola Tubaro, Antonio A. Casilli, and Marion Coville, 2020. "The trainer, the verifier, the imitator: Three ways in which human platform workers support artificial intelligence," *Big Data & Society* (24 April). doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2053951720919776">https://doi.org/10.1177/2053951720919776</a>, accessed 17 June 2020.

Dan Tynan, 2016. "Online behind bars: If Internet access is a human right, should prisoners have it?" *Guardian* (3 October), at <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2016/oct/03/prison-internet-access-tablets-edovo-jpay">https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2016/oct/03/prison-internet-access-tablets-edovo-jpay</a>, accessed 22 April 2020.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Administration for Community Living, 2018. "2017 profile of older Americans,"

at <a href="https://acl.gov/sites/default/files/Aging%20and%20Disability%20in%20America/2017OlderAmericansProfile.pdf">https://acl.gov/sites/default/files/Aging%20and%20Disability%20in%20America/2017OlderAmericansProfile.pdf</a>, accessed 10 April 2020.

Peter Wagner and Alexi Jones, 2019. "State of phone justice: Local jails, state prisons and private phone providers," *Prison Policy Initiative*, at <a href="https://www.prisonpolicy.org/phones/state\_of\_phone\_justice.html">https://www.prisonpolicy.org/phones/state\_of\_phone\_justice.html</a>, accessed 13 May 2020.

Wikilabour.it, 2020. "Speciale emergenza COVID-19," at <a href="https://www.wikilabour.it/">https://www.wikilabour.it/</a>, accessed 15 May 2020.

Timothy Williams, Benjamin Weiser, and William K. Rashbaum, 2020. "'Jails are petri dishes': Inmates freed as the virus spreads behind bars," *New York Times* (20 May),

at <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/30/us/coronavirus-prisons-jails.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/30/us/coronavirus-prisons-jails.html</a>, accessed 12 May 2020.

Vicki Winstead, William A. Anderson, Elizabeth A. Yost, Shelia R. Cotten, Amanda Warr, and Ronald W. Berkowsky, 2013. "You can teach an old dog new tricks: A qualitative analysis of how residents of senior

living communities may use the Web to overcome spatial and social barriers," *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, volume 32, number 5, pp. 540–560.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464811431824, accessed 18 June 2020.

Hong Yang and Julian R. Thompson, 2020. "Fighting covid-19 outbreaks in prisons," *British Medical Journal*, volume 369, number 8241 (2 April).

doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1362, accessed 18 June 2020.

Doris Yu, 2020. "Deliveroo to launch contactless delivery in Asia amid Covid-19 outbreak," *Tech in Asia* (16 March), at <a href="https://www.techinasia.com/deliveroo-launch-contactless-delivery-asia-covid19">https://www.techinasia.com/deliveroo-launch-contactless-delivery-asia-covid19</a>, accessed 20 March 2020.

Shupei Yuan, Syed A. Hussain, Kayla D. Hales, and Shelia R. Cotten, 2016. "What do they like? Communication preferences and patterns of older adults in the U.S.: The role of technology," *Educational Gerontology*, volume 42, number 3, pp. 163–174.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2015.1083392, accessed 18 June 2020.

Jens O. Zinn and Daniel McDonald, 2018. "Risk in the *New York Times* (1987–2014)," In: Jens O. Zinn and Daniel McDonald. *Risk in the New York Times* (19872014): A corpus-based exploration of sociological theories. London: P{algrave Macmillan, pp. 81–136.

doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-64158-4, accessed 18 June 2020.

# **Editorial history**

Received 6 June 2020; accepted 9 June 2020.



This paper is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0</u> International License.

Digital inequalities in time of pandemic: COVID-19 exposure risk profiles and new forms of vulnerability by Laura Robinson, Jeremy Schulz, Aneka Khilnani, Hiroshi Ono, Shelia R. Cotten, Noah McClain, Lloyd Levine, Wenhong Chen, Gejun Huang, Antonio A. Casilli, Paola Tubaro, Matías Dodel, Anabel Quan-Haase, Maria Laura Ruiu, Massimo Ragnedda, Deb Aikat, and Natalia Tolentino.

First Monday, Volume 25, Number 7 - 6 July 2020

https://firstmonday.org/ojs/index.php/fm/article/download/10845/9563

doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.5210/fm.v25i7.10845